
FULL COUNCIL

Please note that this meeting will be recorded for subsequent broadcast via 
the Authority’s Internet Site.  

The images and sound recording may also be used for training purposes 
within the Authority.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the 
Chamber and using the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are 

consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound 
recordings as outlined above.  

Dear Sir/Madam

You are hereby summoned to attend a Meeting of the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council to be held at the COUNCIL CHAMBER on Wednesday, 13th December, 
2017 at 5.30 pm being a Meeting for the following purposes.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be 
found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers

A G E N D A
1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
Members are reminded of their personal responsibility 
to declare any personal and prejudicial interest in 
respect of matters contained in this agenda in 
accordance with the provisions of the Local 
Government and Finance Act 1992 relating to Council 
Tax, the Local Government Act 2000, the Council’s 
Constitution and the Members Code of Conduct

Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must identify 
the item number and subject matter that their 
interest relates to and signify the nature of the 
personal interest and



(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting as a 
consequence of the disclosure of a prejudicial 
interest they must notify the Chair when they 
leave

OPEN SESSION

3. Notice(s) of Motion 

3.a  End the Public Sector Pay Pinch 1 - 2

4. Minutes of Previous Meeting(s) 
To approve as accurate the Minutes of the following 
Meetings:

4.a  Cabinet: 22.11.2017 3 - 8

4.b  Audit: 16.10.2017 9 - 12

4.c  Licensing Committee: 18.10.2017 13 - 14

4.d  SACRE: 24.10.2017 15 - 20

4.e  Scrutiny : Social Services: 7.11.2017 21 - 26

4.f  Planning, Regulatory and Licensing: 15.11.2017 27 - 28

Committee Report(s)

5. Council Tax Base For 2018/19 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 29 - 32

6. Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 
2021/22 - Update December 2017 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 33 - 52

7. Trade Union Facilities 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 53 - 64

8. Workplace Stress Policy 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 65 - 104



9. Trago Mills Megastore – Creation of a Tourist 
Information Centre 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration

105 - 110

10. Redistribution of Ffos-y-fran Grant Funds 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration

111 - 114

11. Cold Weather Plan 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration

115 - 128

12. Post 16 Home to School Transport 
To consider report of the Chief Officer for Learning and 
Chief Officer for Community Regeneration

129 - 164

CLOSED SESSION

Exempt

In order that the following can be considered in private, it is suggested that the 
public be excluded from the Meeting on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph/s 14,15 under Part 
4 of Schedule 12A of Section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972.

13. Customer Services Roles - Vacant Posts 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 165 - 168

RE-OPENED SESSION

Other Items

14. To deal with any other urgent business or 
correspondence 

15. To receive communications from Her / His  Worship the 
Mayor 



By order of the Mayor

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Page 1

Agenda Item 3a



Page 2



MINUTES OF MEETING

CABINET MEETING
WEDNESDAY, 22ND NOVEMBER, 2017

PRESENT: Councillor K O'Neill (In the Chair)

Councillors H Barrett, A Barry, D Hughes and G Thomas

Officers
Carys Kennedy (Head of Legal and Governance Services - 
Monitoring Officer), Ellis Cooper (Deputy Chief Executive), Steve 
Jones (Head of Finance), Mark Thomas (Head of Corporate 
Services), Lisa Curtis Jones (Chief Officer (Social Services)), 
Sue Walker (Temporary Chief Education Officer), Cheryllee 
Evans (Chief Officer (Neighbourhood Services)), Jeremy 
Ashdown (H R Manager), Ceri Dinham (Communications, 
Consultation and Engagement Manager), Andrew Mogford 
(Strategic Business Analyst) and Chris Hole (Head of 
Community Wellbeing), Mark Price (Revenue)

Mair Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

433  Apologies for absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillor L 
Mytton.

434  Declarations of Interest Councillor D Hughes Declared his Interest in Item 15 –
Communities First Legacy Arrangements as he is a Trustee 
of the Engine House.

435  Capital Monitoring 
Report 2017/18 - 
Quarter 2

Resolved that:

(a) The Capital Monitoring Report for the second 
quarter of 2017/18 be noted

(b) The amendment to the budget in respect of an 
increased budget line for Capitalised Redundancy 
Costs and associated funding through increased 
Capital receipts as per Paragraph 4.1 of the report 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4a



be approved
(c) Variances to the budget as per Paragraph 4.3 of 

the report be noted and where appropriate 
approved

(d) Officers continue to rigorously monitor budgets to 
ensure that expenditure remains within approved 
budgets

(e) Chief Officers to scrutinise project delivery to 
ensure expenditure remains within approved 
budgets 

436  Revenue Budget 
Monitoring 2017-18 - 
Quarter 2

Resolved that:

(a) The second Revenue Budget Monitoring report for 
the 2017/18 financial year based on 2nd Quarter 
projections be accepted

(b) Budget Virements outlined in Appendix 2 be 
approved

(c) Managers to urgently address projected budget 
deficits within their respective service areas, 
identifying all possible remedial measures to offset 
projected deficits

(d) Managers to continue to rigorously monitor all 
Revenue Budgets and immediately notify the Chief 
Finance Officer of potential financial difficulties

437  NEETs Strategy 2018-
2021

Resolved that:

(a) The current performance of NEET’s on leaving 
schools and unemployment data relating to 16-24 
years be noted

(b) The NEETS Strategy 2018-21 (Appendix 1) be 
agreed

438  Various Roads, 
Merthyr Tydfil - 
Proposed Permanent 
Traffic Regulation 
Order

Resolved that:

(a) Public Notice be given of the County Borough 
Council’s intention to make a permanent Traffic 
Regulation Order under the Road Traffic Regulation 
Act 1984 the effect of which is detailed in the 
Schedule at Appendix 1

(b) That in the event of no objections being received, 
the said permanent Order be made

(c) If objections are received a report be presented to 
the appropriate Committee for consideration as 
soon as practicable 

439  High Street 
Penydarren Subway – 
Stopping-up of Existing 
Highway Rights

Resolved that:

The necessary consultations be undertaken with Utility 
Companies and that the Council’s Legal Division be 
instructed to initiate the processes of publishing the 
necessary notices and making application to the 
Magistrates Court to extinguish the highway rights of the 
footways identified on the plan available at Appendix 1

440  School Balances 2016-
2018

Resolved that:

The contents of the report be noted.

Page 4



441  Social Services and 
Wellbeing Act: 
Implementation 
Programme Regional 
Social Services and 
Wellbeing Programme

Resolved that:

(a) The update on the Regional Pooled Fund for Care 
Home Accommodation be noted

(b) The Regional Market Position Statement (Care 
Home Accommodation) be endorsed

(c) The outcome of the engagement activity with 
Service Users and Stakeholders be considered 
and the final Regional Statement of Strategic 
Intent for Children, Young People and Adults 
with Learning Disabilities be endorsed 
(Appendix 4)

(d) The draft Regional Strategy for Supporting 
Children, Young People and Families be 
considered and Officers be authorised to 
undertake the proposed Programme of 
Engagement as set out in the Engagement 
Plan

442  Community Facilities 
Programme

Resolved that:

(a) The contents of the report be noted
(b) The strategically important facilities ‘Community 

Hubs’ as those being in Band A as well as the new 
facility identified in Paragraph 6.3 of the report be 
agreed

(c) To establish an Authority wide cross departmental 
group and accountability process by March 2018 
before any Partnership applications are signed up 
to by the Council be agreed

(d) That future applications be reviewed and 
recommendations brought before Council on all 
Partnership applications to further develop a joined 
up approach to future sustainability across the 
Local Authority and the Community be agreed

443  Payment of Care 
Home Fees 2017-2018

Resolved that:

(a) The level of payments to Independent Sector 
Residential and Nursing Care Service Providers be 
paid at the rates shown in Appendix One

(b) The increase in fees for 2017-2018 be backdated 
and be effective from 10th April 2017

444  MTCBC Change 
Programme – Quarter 
Two Progress

Resolved that:

The report for Information be received.

445  Pilot Community Zone 
- Update

Resolved that:

The report for Information be received.

CLOSED SESSION

Resolved that:

Page 5



The public be excluded from the Meeting on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in Paragraph/s 12,13,14,15 under Part 4 of Schedule 12A 
Section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972.

446  Debt Write Off Report Resolved that:

The write off of irrecoverable debts as identified in 
Appendices 1 and 2 be approved.

447  Communities First 
Legacy Arrangements

Councillor D Hughes having Declared his Interest in this 
item left the Meeting for the consideration of this item.

Resolved that:

(a) The contents of the report and the available 
resources be noted

(b) The priorities identified at Paragraphs 8.1, 9.1, 9.2, 
9.3, 9.4 and 9.5 of the report be agreed and Service 
Specifications be developed with Partners for 
implementation in April 2018.

448  Families First 
Programme - April 
2018-2021

Resolved that:

(a) The contents of the report and the key issues 
identified in Table 1 be noted

(b) The priorities identified in Paragraph 5.2 of the 
report and the investment areas identified in 
Paragraph 7.1 of the report be noted and agreed

(c) Recommendation 2.3 as outlined within the report 
be accepted

(d) Recommendation 2.4 as outlined within the report 
be accepted

(e) The funding profile for all future delivery in 
Appendix 3 be agreed and that this be reviewed 
annually in line with any future developments

(f) The strategic approach in Paragraph 7.2 of the 
report be agreed and implemented 

449  Restructure of 
Corporate Support 
Service Functions – 
Report 1

Resolved that:

The structural changes of the Corporate Support Service 
functions that are listed within section 3.1 of the report be 
recommended to Council for approval subject to the 
relevant Consultations, Audit and Scrutiny Committees.

450  Restructure of 
Corporate Support 
Service Functions – 
Report 2

Resolved that:

This item be withdrawn.

451  Restructure of 
Corporate Support 
Service Functions – 
Report 3

Resolved that:

The structural changes of the Corporate Support Service 
functions that are listed within sections 3.2 and 3.3 of the 
report be recommended to Council for approval subject to 
the relevant Consultations, Audit and Scrutiny Committees. 

Page 6



452  Removal of vacant 
posts relating to 
services in scope for 
the customer services 
project – Report 4

Resolved that:

The removal of vacant posts as outlined within Paragraph 
2.1 of the report be recommended to Council for approval 
subject to the relevant Consultations, Audit and Scrutiny 
Committees.

453  Restructure of 
Corporate Housing 
Support Service and 
Estates Management 
service – Report 5

The Committee were advised of amendments to 
Paragraphs 1.3, 3.2 and 4.2 of the report.

Resolved subject to the foregoing that:

The structural changes to the Council’s Housing Support 
Service and Estates Management Service be 
recommended to Council for approval subject to the 
relevant Consultations, Audit and Scrutiny Committees.

454  MTCBC Change 
Programme 
Continuous Review

The Committee were advised that Paragraphs 6.3, 6.4, 6.5, 
6.6, 6.7 and 6.8 within the report had been deleted.

Resolved subject to the foregoing that:

(a) The report be considered at Full Council
(b) Consultation with the Trade Unions commence with 

a view to re-assessing the current situation and 
creating a new collective agreement be approved

(c) That the recommendation at Paragraph 2.3 of the 
report be approved 

(d) Delegated authority to the Chief Executive (and in 
his absence the Deputy Chief Executive) in 
consultation with the Leader of the Council to 
consult on and include options that may be raised 
and agreed with the Trade Unions or the affected 
employees be approved.

RE-OPENED SESSION

455  Any Other Business 
Deemed Urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent.

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF MEETING

AUDIT MEETING
MONDAY, 16TH OCTOBER, 2017

PRESENT: Councillor D Roberts (In the Chair)

Councillors:  C J Barry, J Amos, L Davies, C T Jones, G Lewis 
and D Sammon

Lay Member: 
D Gibby

Officers:
Mark Thomas (Head of Corporate Services), John Sellwood 
(Leisure, Culture and Sports Development Manager), Louise 
Ballinger (Senior Auditor), Steve Peters (Head of Public 
Protection and Housing) and Julian Pike (Housing and 
Community Safety Manager)

Karen Vokes (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

294  Apologies for absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillor S 
Jago.

Reference was made in relation to the current vacancies on 
this Committee.  

295  Declarations of Interest No declarations of interest were made. 

296  Wales Audit Report on 
Community Safety in 
Wales Update

The Chair welcomed Steve Peters and Julian Pike to the 
meeting. 

Steve Peters led the Committee in detail through the Wales 
Audit Report on Community Safety which was published in 
October 2016 and officers responded to the following 
questions that were raised:

Page 9

Agenda Item 4b



 Clarification on start date, end date and % complete 
on Recommendations listed in Appendix 1. 

 What is the current position in relation to the 
updated action on Recommendation 3 (Community 
Safety Strategic Assessment drafted by South 
Wales Police).

 Is individual performance monitoring in place for 
Lead Officers listed in the Audit Action Plan. 

 Clarification on the role of the Contest Board as 
listed in Recommendation 6. 

RESOLVED that:

The Committee notes the contents of the Audit Action Plan.

It was also RESOLVED that:

All columns in future Audit Action Plans be fully completed.  

Steve Peters and Julian Pike then left the meeting.   

297  Auditor General for 
Wales Report 
'Delivering with Less - 
Leisure Services'

The Chair welcomed Mark Thomas and John Sellwood to 
the meeting.

Mark Thomas led the Committee in detail through the report 
and highlighted the background information and current 
position in relation to the progress made against the 
recommendations from the Auditor General for Wales. 

Mark Thomas and John Sellwood responded to 
questions/queries raised by the Committee as follows:

 Progress made by the Leisure Trust.

 The availability of capital and revenue financing in 
the next 3 to 5 years. 

 Measures in place to show how the Leisure Trust 
are delivering on the Council’s key priorities. 

 Public Health priorities.  

 With the imminent closure of Communities First, 
how much will this impact on the sporting measures 
within the wider community.  

 Clarification on benchmarking of data.  

 Grant funding available to the Leisure Trust.  

RESOLVED that:

Members note the progress made in addressing the 
Recommendations in the Auditor General for Wales Report. 

Page 10



Further RESOLVED that:

 The measures in place highlighting how the Leisure 
Trust is delivering on the Council’s key priorities be 
circulated to the members of the Audit Committee 

 Consideration be made to members receiving an 
overview of these Measures at a future Audit 
Committee.  

Councillors Julian Amos and Chris Barry left the meeting at 
3.00 pm. 

298  Information Reports The Chair referred to the Internal Audit Reports which have 
been circulated separately to members of the Audit 
Committee.   He advised members that if there are 
concerns raised on any of these reports, that they can be 
scheduled to a future meeting.  

Discussion ensued in relation to the detail and layout of 
these reports, and Louise Ballinger advised that she can 
share the detailed content of each of these reports if 
required.     

A Committee Member queried whether a paper copy could 
be made available to the Audit Committee Members.  

299  Any other business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that he has made a referral to the 
Neighbourhood Scrutiny Committee requesting for more 
resources to be made available in relation to prosecutions 
on Fly Tipping.  

Mark Thomas advised that this is Louise Ballinger’s last 
meeting as a member of the Internal Audit Team as she has 
gained promotion and is moving to the Accountancy 
Section.  He personally thanked Louise for the work she 
has done over the years and wished her well in her new 
post. 

The Chair also thanked Louise for all her help and support 
to the Committee.   

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF MEETING

LICENSING COMMITTEE 
MEETING

WEDNESDAY, 18TH OCTOBER, 2017

PRESENT: Councillor C Tovey (In the Chair)

Councillors H Barrett and J Amos

Officers:
Simon Jones (Senior Solicitor) and Joanne Baber (Licensing 
Officer)

Police Representative:  
Andrew Jenkins (Licensing Officer South Wales Police)

Karen Vokes (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

309  Apologies for absence As Councillor Gareth Lewis declared an interest prior to the 
meeting, Councillor Julian Amos replaced him so that the 
applications could be considered. 

310  Declarations of Interest No declarations of interest were made. 

CLOSED SESSION

Exempt

RESOLVED that:

The public be excluded from the meeting on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure 
of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 12 and 13 under Part 4 of Schedule 12A 
Section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972.

Page 13

Agenda Item 4c



311  Hackney Carriage 
Driver Licence

Hackney Carriage Driver Licence (HS)

RESOLVED that:

A Hackney Carriage Driver Licence be refused.

312  Hackney Carriage 
Driver Licence

Hackney Carriage Driver Licence (AA)

RESOLVED that:

A Hackney Carriage Driver Licence be granted. 

313  Hackney Carriage 
Vehicle Licence

Hackney Carriage Driver Licence (JM)

RESOLVED that:

The findings of the Committee be submitted to the Planning, 
Regulatory and Licensing Committee Meeting commencing 
at 5.00 pm.

314  Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Driver 
Licences

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver Licences  -  (JBS)

RESOLVED that:

A formal warning letter be issued.   

RE-OPENED SESSION

315  Any other business 
deemed Urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent.

Page 14



MINUTES OF MEETING

SACRE MEETING
TUESDAY, 24TH OCTOBER, 2017

PRESENT: Councillor E Galsworthy (In the Chair)

Councillors D Hughes, I Thomas and C Davies

Professional Associations:
J Jones and L Draper

Faith Communities:
D O'Keefe, A Star and Rev. M Prevett 

Rev. C Ruston attended with Rev. M Prevett as an observer

LA Representatives:
P Webber and S Bowen

Karen Vokes (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

342  Welcome Councillor Ernie Galsworthy welcomed Paula Webber to her 
first meeting of Merthyr Tydfil SACRE and everyone 
introduced themselves. 

343  Re-affirm appointment 
of Chair

RESOLVED that:

Councillor Ernie Galsworthy be re-affirmed as Chair of the 
SACRE Committee. 

344  Re-affirm appointment 
of Vice Chair

RESOLVED that:

Councillor David Hughes be re-affirmed as Vice Chair of the 
SACRE Committee. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4d



345  Apologies for absence Apologies for absence received from Amanda Jones, Sian 
Bernard Henderson, Lee-anne McCarthy, Helen Price, Mark 
Carrington and Andy Pitt. 

346  Declaration of Interests No declarations of interest were made. 

347  Minutes of the last 
meeting (including 
Schedule of Meetings 
2017-18)

RESOLVED that:

The minutes of the meeting held on 4th July 2017 were 
recorded as an accurate record. 

348  Matters Arising In relation to the appointments  on the Executive 
Committee, Paula Webber advised members that Alison 
Lewis and Tania ap Sion have been appointed to the 
membership and Gill Vaisey has been appointed as Vice 
Chair.  

The following schedule of meetings were agreed by the 
Committee:

Thursday, 1st March 2018 - 3.45 pm - Afon Taf High School 
(to be confirmed)
Thursday, 14th June 2018 - 3.45 pm - Civic Centre

RESOLVED that:

 Karen Vokes will contact Amanda Jones to enquire 
if March’s meeting can be held at Afon Taf High 
School.    

 Karen Vokes to confirm with members when this 
has been confirmed.

349  Membership Update 
(See Annual Report)

Members were made aware that there has been no further 
additions to the membership of Merthyr Tydfil SACRE.

350  SACRE Annual Report 
2016-17

Paula Webber referred to the SACRE’s Annual Report for 
2016/17 and led the Committee through the Executive 
Summary and the Development Plan for 2015  -  2018. 

RESOLVED that:

Karen Vokes to circulate the Annual Report to Welsh 
Government together with the organisations listed in 
Appendix 6 of the report.    

351  SACRE Development 
Plan 2015-2018:  
Progress Report 
(Annual Report 
attached)

The SACRE Development Plan for 2015 - 2018 was 
discussed as part of the previous item.  

352  Inspection Report 
Analysis:  Autumn 
2016 - Summer 2017

Paula Webber referred to the School Inspection Reports in 
relation to Dowlais Primary School, Greenfield Special 
School and Ysgol Gymraeg Rhyd Y Grug.  She also 
referred to the Estyn Monitoring Visits to Afon Taf High 
School, Cyfarthfa High School, Goetre Primary School and 
Penydre High School.    

Page 16



She led Committee through the outcomes of the 
inspections. 

RESOLVED that:

 Members note the contents of the inspection 
reports.

 Paula Webber to draft letter to the Schools 
inspected congratulating them on their recent 
inspection and to request self evaluation 
documents for Religious Education.

 Karen Vokes will forward these letters to the 
Schools when available. 

353  RE and the National 
Curriculum Update:  
Welsh Government 
Newsletter

Paula Webber referred members to the meetings with 
Welsh Government and WASACRE officers in relation to 
the National Curriculum update and advised that it was 
positive that WASACRE was able to work together with 
Welsh Government in order to develop a curriculum that 
works for RE.   

Discussion ensued in relation to development of the new 
curriculum for Wales and SACRE’s comments in relation to 
the Humanities AoLE.

RESOLVED that:

 Paula Webber to write to Welsh Government 
highlighting the thoughts and concerns of SACRE 
with regard to the Humanities AoLE in the new 
curriculum.  

 Members to e-mail Karen Vokes/Paula Webber if 
they have any additional comments to be 
highlighted in this letter.   

354  GCSE Religious 
Studies:  Update

Paula Webber gave members an update on progress of the 
GCSE specification together with the role of the lead 
practitioners to provide support and consistency across the 
region for Schools delivering the new GCSE specification.   
The large workload expected on teachers was also 
recognised and the resources that are required to help 
support teachers during this process.      

Discussion ensued on the commitment of undertaking 
continuing professional development (CPD) which 
demonstrates the improvement of relevant knowledge and 
skills in subject area and teaching or training.

RESOLVED that:

Members will be updated on any developments. 

355  Estyn Thematic 
Review of RE:  Update

Paula Webber advised the Committee in relation to Estyn’s 
Thematic Review of RE and that the Schools involved with 
this review have already been notified.   

Page 17



She circulated to members a copy of Estyn’s Questionnaire 
to Chairpersons of SACRE’s.   She apologised to members 
on the delay in distributing this questionnaire as the 
deadline for return is this Friday, the 27th October.        The 
Committee discussed the questions contained within the 
questionnaire and it was RESOLVED that:

 Paula Webber complete the questionnaire, taking 
into account members’ comments/suggestions, and 
forward to Karen Vokes before Friday.    

356  WASACRE: AGM at Wrexham on 7th July 2017

Minutes of the AGM Meeting in Wrexham on the 7th July 
2017 were noted by members.

WASACRE Meeting  -  Friday, 10th November 2017 at 
Bridgend

Discussion ensued in relation to the next WASACRE 
meeting in Bridgend on Friday, 10th November 2017 and 
Councillor Ernie Galsworthy and Paula Webber confirmed 
that they will be attending.   

Dates of future WASACRE Meeting

Paula Webber advised that the spring meeting of 
WASACRE will be held on 9th March in Swansea.

RESOLVED that:

 Any members wishing to attending the WASACRE 
meetings on the 10th November 2017 in Bridgend 
and the 9th March 2018 in Swansea, to contact 
Karen Vokes.  

357  Holocaust Memorial 
Day 2018

Paula Webber advised that Holocaust Memorial Day is an 
annual event that takes place on the 27th January which 
marks the anniversary of the liberation of Auschwitz-
Birkenhau concentration camp. 

She advised that Schools are encouraged to participate in 
the Holocaust Memorial Day and the Committee discussed 
previous events that have taken place throughout the 
Borough.   

RESOLVED that:

 Paula Webber will draft a letter to all Schools from 
the Chair of SACRE and forward to Karen Vokes to 
send to all Schools within the Borough.

 Members advise Karen Vokes of any events that 
are taking place so that she can share them with 
the Committee and Schools.   

358  Visits and Visitors Paula Webber referred to the Visits and Visitors in Religious 
Education document which has been published for 
SACRE’s.

Page 18



RESOLVED that:

 Members to e-mail Karen Vokes if you want any 
information included in this document.

 Karen Vokes to send a copy to all Schools. 

 Sarah Bowen to send Safeguarding Policy to Karen 
Vokes so this can be sent out with this document.    

359  Inter Faith Network 
Bulletin

RESOLVED that:

The Inter Faith News E-Bulletin be sent to all Schools for 
information. 

360  Future RE News 
Bulletin and 
Information Briefings:  
Update

Paula Webber referred to the RE News Bulletin and 
Information Briefings which outlines events happening 
within different SACRE areas including news on 
forthcoming events for the Holocaust Memorial Day for 
2018 etc.    She advised members that this has proved to 
be a good communication tool for Schools.  

RESOLVED that:

Paula Webber to send a copy to Karen Vokes to forward on 
to SACRE members and all Schools.   

361  Correspondence No correspondence was discussed.

362  Any other business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent.

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF MEETING

SCRUTINY : SOCIAL 
SERVICES MEETING

TUESDAY, 7TH NOVEMBER, 2017

PRESENT: Councillor W R Smith (In the Chair)

Councillors D Sammon and C Tovey

Cabinet:
Councillor D Hughes

Officers:
Mark Anderton (Head of Adult Services), Lisa Curtis Jones 
(Chief Officer (Social Services)), Chris Hole (Head of 
Community Wellbeing), Paul Lewis (Trading Standards and 
Licensing Manager), Annabel Lloyd (Head of Children's 
Services), John Sellwood (Leisure, Culture and Sports 
Development Manager), Steve Peters (Head of Public Protection 
and Housing) and Ewan McWilliams (Corporate Performance 
Manager), and Ryan Evans (Community Safety)

Matthew Phillips (Democratic Services Officer) 

Outside Bodies:
Nicola Kingham (Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board), Claire Chick 
(Cwm Taf Youth Offending Service) and Julie Beck (Safer 
Merthyr Tydfil)

Page 21

Agenda Item 4e



ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

401  Apologies for absence Apologies for absence were received for Councillor G 
Richards, Councillor T Rogers and Councillor I Thomas and 
Co-opted member Brian Lewis.

402  Declarations of Interest 
(including whipping 
declarations)

No Declarations of Interest were made.

403  Living Well, 
Developing Safer 
Communities 
(Wellbeing Objective 
LW1)

The Chair raised his concerns in relation to Item 3 Living 
Well, Developing Safer Communities (Wellbeing Objective 
LW1) and Item 4 Living Well, People have good physical 
and mental health (Wellbeing Objective LW2) being on the 
same agenda as he felt they should be scrutinised 
individually as they are important issues and would take up 
a considerable part of the meeting.

The Chair requested that if there is a need for two such 
reports to be brought to a future meeting that the officers 
consult with him and the Scrutiny Officer.

Lisa Curtis-Jones introduced the item to the committee and 
highlighted the judgement at 7.1.

The following questions were raised by the committee and 
answered in detail be the appropriate officers.

The Chair questioned the officers in relation to the Item 3 
and Item 4 being brought to the same meeting and the 
number of officers required to attend the meeting in order 
for the Committee to scrutinise the report. He 
recommended that the projects be broken down further and 
only be brought the necessary committees. He also 
requested that the Cabinet Member take it to the Leader to 
address how best to move forward.

The Chair also suggested the possibility of the Scrutiny 
Chairs meeting with the Leader to air their concerns 
surrounding the Wellbeing Objectives.

Councillor D Sammon echoed the Chairs thoughts in 
relation to the Wellbeing reports as he had raised the same 
issues as Chair of Neighbourhood Services, Planning and 
Countryside.

 Are Trading Standards currently working proactively 
to prevent doorstep crime 

 Is there less doorstep crime than in previous years

 Can you provide details of the partners you work 
with in tackling doorstep crime

 There are currently no figures for 2017/18, when 
will figures be available to the committee to allow 
for comparisons

Page 22



 The report provides percentages but no figures, this 
doesn’t provide the Committee with enough 
information to compare and scrutinise. Can officers 
ensure figures are provided in future reports

 In relation to the flymappertm what are the 
timescales involved with including drug litter

 What was the cost of setting-up the new drug litter 
database

 Are figures available to the Committee to show the 
true extent of the drug litter issues in Merthyr Tydfil

 Does the Authority have a good working 
relationship with Drug Aid, and is it correct that 
they have to collect a percentage of needles that 
have been handed out.

 Is Nitrous Oxide use a big problem in Merthyr 
Tydfil, and are you aware of the age range of 
possible users

The Chair asked for a meeting to be arranged with Drug Aid 
and the Co-Op Pharmacy in relation to needle exchange 
and for all Scrutiny Chairs to be invited. 

The Chair also requested that Steve Peters raise the issue 
on needle exchange at the Area Planning Board

 How often to the Area Planning Board meet

 In relation to the Tackling Violence Against Women 
and Girls report it again only contains percentages 
not actual figures can this be addressed for future 
meetings

 Has there been a decline in the figures for violence 
against women and girls

The Chair welcomed the officer’s recommendation in 
relation to providing the committee with an annual on 
violence against women and girls.

 Can a information sheet be provided to the 
committee providing detailed information prior to 
the publication of the annual report

 Can the yearly report be broken down to show 
monthly figures so that any patterns can be clearly 
identified.

Julie Beck addressed the committee in relation to project 
which has been rolled out throughout the Cwm Taf area 
specifically in GPs Practices. They have trained GPs in how 
best to identify and ask sensitively victims of domestic 
abuse and then refer victims to a specialist services. This 
has led to a 200% increase in referrals via GPs.

Page 23



Claire Chick updated the committee in relation to the 
funding of the 18-25 DIVERT project and stated that Cwm 
Taf Youth Offending Service are confident that the funding 
will continue next year. 

Resolved that:

The contents of the report be noted.

The Chair thanked the officers for their responses and they 
left the meeting.

404  Living Well, People 
have good physical 
and mental health 
(Wellbeing Objective 
LW2)

Lisa Curtis-Jones introduced the item to the committee and 
explained that John Sellwood is in attendance as the project 
lead and will be happy to answer any questions from the 
committee.

The following questions were asked by the committee and 
responded to in detail by the officers.

 Does the Local Authority have good links with the 
Leisure Trust to support us in these wellbeing 
objectives

 When will the Leisure Trust Business Plan be in 
place

 Are there figures available to show how Merthyr 
Tydfil Leisure Centre in being used, as there are no 
figures in the report

 Can you tell the Committee why the number of 
visitors to Merthyr Leisure Centre are down in 
comparison to previous years

The Chair advised the Committee that the Leisure Trust will 
be attending Scrutiny in December and there will be an 
opportunity to ask further questions.

Resolved that:
The contents of the report be noted.

405  Annual Report 2016/17 
for the Cwm Taf 
Safeguarding Board

Nicola Kingham introduced the annual report to the 
committee and highlighted the salient points in relation to 
safeguarding adults, safeguarding children, Multi Agency 
Safeguarding Hub (MASH) and the joint safeguarding 
functions.

The following questions were raised by the committee and 
answered in detail by the appropriate officer.

 Have the parameters changed in relation to 
reporting, or is it a sign of the times that the figures 
have drastically risen. Is the rise UK wide or just 
locally

Page 24



 With the increase in workload do you have the staff 
in place to manage the cases

The Chair raised an issue in relation to Universal Credit 
being introduced in Merthyr Tydfil next year which could 
cause an increase in the figures for looked after children.

 Compared to five years ago has there been a drop 
in the figures for children on the child protection 
register

 Why do so many children end up back on the 
register after being returned to their parents. What 
is the procedure in this situation 

 How often would you allow children to be returned 
to the family after being place back on to the child 
protection register

The Cabinet member addressed the committee in relation 
to the preventative work that has been carried out over the 
past 3/4 years and commended Annabel and her team.

The Chair thanked the officer for the presentation.

Resolved that: 

The contents of the report be noted.

406  Pilot Community Zone 
- Update

Chris Hole presented the report to the committee and 
highlighted where we were, where we are and where we 
want to be. He explained that the public consultation will 
take place on 29th November 2017 at the Gurnos 
Community Centre.

The following questions were raised by the committee and 
responded to in detail by the appropriate officer.  

 There is currently no timetable in place and 
£377,000 available for the project. Is there a time 
limit on the funding

 Are the financial implications for the Authority in 
setting up the Community Zone

 Is it correct that the Authority does not have the 
capacity to carry the project forward without support 
from Welsh Government

 To clarify, we currently have no support from Welsh 
Government

 As an Authority we have to ask the Community 
what they want from the project, but no money to 
supply it. Can you confirm this

Page 25



 How can we as an Authority go to the Communities 
with no money asking what they want from the 
project

The Chair requested this be brought back to the Strategic 
Partnership Board or even invite Welsh Government to a 
meeting to discuss the issues being faced by the Authority.
 
The Chair thanked the officer for the report.

Resolved that: 

Scrutiny notes the reliance on partners’ involvement at both 
a strategic and operational level to the development of this 
agenda.

407  Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act 
2014

Lisa Curtis-Jones updated the committee in relation to the 
Social Services and Well Being (Wales) Act 2014.

408  Scrutiny Referrals, 
Feedback and Follow 
up Actions

The Chair highlighted the follow-up action in relation 
arranging a meeting with the Scrutiny Chairs, Drug Aid and 
the Co-Op Pharmacy. 

409  Reflection and 
Evaluation of Meeting

The Chair and the Committee reflected on the issues that 
had been considered.

410  Forward Work 
Programme

The Chair referred the Committee to the ‘Scrutiny 
Committee Work Programme’ report and the Work 
Programme was agreed.

411  Any other business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent.

Page 26



MINUTES OF MEETING

PLANNING, REGULATORY 
AND LICENSING MEETING

WEDNESDAY, 15TH NOVEMBER, 2017

PRESENT: Councillor C Tovey (In the Chair)

Councillors J Amos, H Barrett, D Chaplin, M Colbran, C T Jones, 
G Lewis, J Thomas and S Thomas

Judith  Jones (Head of  Planning and Countryside), Geraint 
Morgan (Solicitor) and David Cross (Principal Planning Officer)
Matthew Phillips (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

412  Apologies for absence Apologies for absence were received for Councillor E 
Galsworthy and Councillor K Gibbs.

413  Declarations of Interest No Declarations of Interest were received.

414  P/17/0276 - 
Bontnewydd Hotel, 
High Street, Trelewis, 
Treharris, CF46 6AB

Conversion of former Bontnewydd Hotel to 9 self contained 
flats with associated external works and car parking 
provision

The Planning Officer introduced the item and led the 
Committee through the Power Point presentation in relation 
to the application.

Councillor M Colbran requested a site visit in light of the 
number of objection letters received.

After consideration by the committee it was Resolved that:

A Fact Finding Site Visit be convened and that the 
appropriate officers from the Planning and Highways 
Department be invited to attend.

Page 27

Agenda Item 4f



415  P/17/0283 - Land 
Adjoining (south Of) 
Delacey Builders, Goat 
Mill Road, Dowlais, 
Merthyr Tydfil, CF48 
3TD

Erection of office building (Unit 1) and erection of 9 no. 
industrial units (units 2-10) for B1, B2 and B8 uses with 
associated service road, parking and service yard area.

The Planning officer introduced the item and led the 
committee through the Power Point presentation in relation 
to the application.

The following questions were raised by the committee and 
were responded to by the Planning Officer.

 Is there a regulation that specifies the number of 
disabled parking bays for applications such as this

 Can you explain to the Committee what B1, B2 and 
B8 uses are in relation to this application

After consideration by the Committee it was Resolved that:

In accordance with the recommendation of the Head of 
Planning and Countryside, the application be approved 
subject to the conditions outlined in the report.

416  P/16/0367 - Appeal 
Received

RESOLVED that:

P/16/0367 – Appeal in relation to Land To The North West 
Of Llys Y Fran, Station Terrace, Bedlinog be received by 
Members for information. 

417  P/17/0004 - Appeal 
Received

RESOLVED that: 

P/17/0004 – Appeal in relation to Cwmbargoed Disposal 
Point, Bogey Road, Mountain Hare, Merthyr Tydfil, CF48 
4AE be received by Members for information.

418  P/17/0172 - Appeal 
Received

RESOLVED that:

P/17/0172 – Appeal in relation to 1 Ael-y-Bryn, Trelewis, 
Treharris, CF46 6BA be received by Members for 
information.

419  P/17/0211 - Appeal 
Received

RESOLVED that:

P/17/0211 – Appeal in relation to Land Opposite Valley 
View, Mountain Hare, Penheolferthyr, Twynyrodyn, Merthyr 
Tydfil be received by Members for information. 

420  Delegated Report RESOLVED that:

Delegated Decision Report List  for period 1st September – 
31st October 2017 be received by Members for information. 

421  Any Other Business 
Deemed Urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent and closed the meeting.

Page 28



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Council Tax Base For 2018/19

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The Council has to set the Council Tax base each year in accordance with the           
prescribed regulations, (see 3.1). This is the first stage in setting the Council Tax and

          also provides the precepting authorities with a key component to determine their           
financial requirements for the coming year.

1.2 The calculation is made with reference to the number of banded properties within 
the local authority area adjusted to take into account discounts and exemptions.  The 

           calculation also takes into account changes to the valuation list that appear likely to            
occur during 2018-19.  

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that

2.1 Taking into account the number of properties in each valuation band, discounts,           
reductions for disabilities and future likely changes in the valuation list, I would           
recommend that the Council passes the following resolution:

           That pursuant to this report and in accordance with the Local Authorities (Calculation 
           of Council Tax Base) and Council Tax (Prescribed class of Dwellings) (Wales)          

(Amendments) regulations 2004, the number calculated by the Merthyr Tydfil           
County Borough Council for 2018/19 shall be 18,098.08 (18,069.24 – 2017/18) and           
for the area covered by the Bedlinog Community Council for 2018/19 shall be           
1,148.02 (1,127.21 – 2017/18).

Date Written 7th November 2017
Report Author Mike Parry
Service Area Revenues
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 13th December 2017

Page 29

Agenda Item 5



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1  It is a requirement of the Local Authorities (Calculation of Tax Base) Regulations 
1995 as amended by the Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) and 
Council Tax (Prescribed Classes of Dwellings) (Wales) (Amendments) Regulations 
2004, that a Council resolution is made each year confirming the Council Tax base 
for the Council area as a whole and for the area covered by the Bedlinog Community 
Council.

3.2 The latest Valuation list shows the following information:

Band Valuation Spread           No of Properties
2016/17    2017/18

%

A Less than £44,000                    14100 14109 51.7
B £44,001 - £65,000 6633 6643 24.4
C £65,001 - £91,000 2168 2180 8.0
D £91,001 - £123,000 2114 2145 7.9
E £123,001 - £162,000 1422 1468 5.4
F £162,001 – £223,000 554 556 2.0
G £223,001 – £324,000 142 145 
H £324,001 - £424,000 2 2 <1
I £424,001 and over 7 7 <1

27142 27255

3.3 Liable persons for each property are charged on the basis of the Band D charge 
declared by the Council as follows:

Band           Ratio to Band D
A                            6/9                           
B                            7/9
C                            8/9
D                            9/9
E                           11/9
F                           13/9
G                           15/9
H                           18/9
I                             21/9

3.4     The Council Tax Base must now be determined by Council for the County Borough 
          area and the Bedlinog Community Council area. The declaration to be made refers to 
          what is termed the ‘Band D’ equivalent of all properties. Referring to paragraph 3.3,
          members will note that Band A properties pay 6/9 of the charge and count as 6/9 of a 
          property when compared to Band D. Similarly, Band B properties as 7/9 of a property
          and so on. 

3.5    The estimated collection rate for 2018/19 has been set at 96%, the same estimated
          figure as 2017/18.

Page 30



4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 This report sets the Council Tax Base for 2018/19 from which the Council Tax will           
be derived.

5.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Valuation Office Agency 
number and band report

29th October 2017 Revenue Section 

Northgate Council Tax 
Base report

31st October 2017 Revenue Section

Welsh Government CT1 
Report

31st October 2017 Revenue Section

Equality Impact 
Assessment Screening 
Document

07th November 2017 Electronic Library

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 To 
2021/22 – Update December 2017

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The Provisional Welsh Local Government Settlement was announced on 10th 
October 2017 and resulted in a funding reduction of 1% for Merthyr Tydfil for the 
2018/19 financial year.

1.2 The Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21 was approved at Council of 
22nd March 2017 and indicated a projected budget deficit of £6.012 million for 
2018/19 and a projected budget deficit of £16.358 million for the period 2018/19 to 
2020/21.

1.3 Proposals to address the projected budget deficits were considered at Budget Board 
on 18th October 2017 and 15th November 2017 and form the basis of this report.

1.4 The revised projected budget deficits (prior to the consideration of service budget 
reduction proposals) indicate a budget deficit of £1.910 million for 2018/19 and 
£12.790 million for the period 2018/19 to 2020/21.

1.5 Provisional service budget reduction proposals of £930,000 and required Schools’ 
savings of £471,000 reduce the projected budget deficit for 2018/19 to £509,000. In 
addition the projected budget deficit for the period 2018/19 to 2020/21 would reduce 
to £11.126 million.  

 

Date Written 28th November 2017*
Report Author Steve Jones
Service Area Finance
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 13th December 2017

Page 33

Agenda Item 6



1.6 Further reports to Council will provide further details in respect of the service budget 
reduction proposals of £930,000 for 2018/19 whilst additionally identifying further 
budget reduction proposals in addressing the provisional revised budget deficit of 
£509,000 for 2018/19.

1.7 Further reports to Council will provide further details in respect of the schools’ 
savings proposals for 2018/19.

1.8 The revised budget projections assume a Council Tax increase of 2.9% for the 
period of the Medium Term Financial Plan, as approved for 2017/18.

1.9 This report was considered at Cabinet of 13th December 2017.  

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The implications of the Provisional Local Government Settlement for 2018/19 
outlined in Section 5 and Appendices 1 to 3 be noted and accepted.

2.2 The Cabinet recommended Corporate Additional Demands outlined in Section 6 and 
Appendix 4 be approved. 

2.3 The Cabinet recommended Corporate Budget Reductions outlined in Section 7 and 
Appendix 5 be approved.

2.4 The Cabinet recommended Budget Reserve Re-profile outlined in Section 8 be 
approved.

2.5 The Service Budget Reduction Proposals indicated in Section 9 be noted with further 
details provided to Council following completion of appropriate Business Cases 
(where relevant).

2.6 The Cabinet recommended Schools budget reduction requirement identified in 
Section 9 be approved.

2.7 All recommendations be subject to employee, public and trade unions engagement 
and consultation where appropriate and any recommendations received from Joint 
Audit/Scrutiny Committee.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Provisional Local Government Settlement for 2018/19 was announced on 10th 
October 2017 and is governed by the following characteristics:

 
o A total revenue funding reduction for all Welsh Local Authorities of 0.5% (£19 

million) from an adjusted 2017/18 base of £4.205 billion to £4.186 billion
o A revenue funding reduction for Merthyr Tydfil of 1% (£906,000) from an 

adjusted 2017/18 base of £90.589 million to £89.683 million

Page 34



o Six Local Authorities, including Merthyr Tydfil, are supported by a “floor 
mechanism” whereby the Welsh Government ensures that no Local Authority 
experiences a funding reduction greater than 1%. This results in total “top-up” 
funding from the Welsh Government of £1.772 million. 

o Merthyr Tydfil is only marginally supported by the “floor mechanism” with “top-
up” funding of only £27,000

o Merthyr Tydfil’s revenue settlement is ranked joint 17th of all 22 Welsh Local 
Authorities but 3rd best on a per capita basis

o Funding formula and data set changes have resulted in Merthyr Tydfil 
continuing to receive one of the worst revenue settlements of all Welsh Local 
Authorities for 2018/19

o Former specific grants, totalling £91.716 million, previously held outside of the 
revenue settlement are transferred into the settlement with Merthyr Tydfil’s 
proportion totalling £1.826 million

o There is no formal Welsh Government mandated 1% cash protection 
commitment for schools

o For the first time since 2014/15 the Welsh Government has provided an 
indicative revenue settlement for the following year, being a reduction of 1.5% 
for 2019/20

3.2 The summary Provisional Revenue Settlement for 2018/19 is included as Appendix 1 
and is re-produced from the documentation received from the Welsh Government. In 
addition the Welsh Government paper in respect of changes to key data sets is 
included as Appendix 2. The Final Local Government Settlement is to be announced 
on 20th December 2017 with no material adjustments expected. 

 
3.3 The summary Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2017/18 to 2020/21 approved by 

Council on 22nd March 2017 is outlined in Table 1. 
  

Table 1 – MTFP Projected Budget Deficits 2017/18 to 2020/21

Description 2017/18 
£’000

2018/19 
£’000

2019/20 
£’000

2020/21 
£’000

People and Performance Directorate
Place and Transformation Directorate
Corporate Costs
Employee Severance/Slippage
Non General Fund Allocations
Collection Fund Surplus
Corporate Vacancy Factor
Corporate Investment Fund
Capitalisation of Severance Costs
Earmarked Reserves/Funds 

74,694
21,296
22,292

1,305
-835
-600
-400

0
-500

-2,457

75,891
21,690
21,925

1,056
-835
-600
-400
600

-500
-1,259

77,334
22,144
22,521

1,306
-835
-600
-400
600

0
-1,086

78,158
22,486
22,577

1,306
-835
-600
-400
600

0
-592

Net Expenditure 114,795 117,568 120,984 122,700

Available Finance 114,795 111,556 108,518 106,342

Projected Budget Deficit 0 6,012 12,466 16,358

Page 35



3.4 It is evident from Table 1 that the projected budget deficit was £6.012 million for 
2018/19 and a projected £16.358 million for the 3 year period 2018/19 to 2020/21. 

4.0 REVISED MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

4.1 A Medium Term Financial Plan is a rolling programme, continually evolving as further 
information and changing circumstances become known. The following identified 
changes are considered within this report:

o Implications of Provisional Settlement
o Corporate Additional Demands
o Corporate Budget Reductions
o Budget Reserve Re-profile
o Indicative Additional Demands
o Service Budget Reduction Proposals
o Schools Reductions

4.2 The financial impact of the above changes to the reported budget deficits for 2018/19 
to 2020/21 are outlined in Table 2. It should be noted that the projected financial 
position for 2021/22 is currently being determined in establishing the MTFP for the 4 
year period 2018/19 to 2021/22 and will be reported to a subsequent Cabinet and 
Council. 

Table 2 –Revised Projected Budget Deficits 2018/19 to 2020/21

Description 2018/19 
£’000

2019/20 
£’000

2020/21 
£’000

Budget Deficit – Council 22nd March 2017

Implications of Provisional Settlement
Corporate Additional Demands
Corporate Budget Reductions
Budget Reserve Re-profile
Indicative Additional Demands

6,012

-3,444
2,304

-2,362
-600

0

12,466

-5,408
2,552

-1,939
200

1,000

16,358

-6,626
2,468

-1,810
400

2,000

Revised Budget Deficit 1,910 8,871 12,790

4.3 It is evident from Table 2 that the revised budget deficit is £1.910 million for 2018/19 
and a projected £12.790 million for the 3 year period 2018/19 to 2020/21. Indicative 
additional demands of £1 million per annum are included for 2019/20 to 2020/21 to 
reflect probable further requirements in addressing demographic growth and service 
financial pressures. 

4.4 The revised MTFP was presented at the Budget Board meeting on 18th October 
2017 attended by Cabinet and Corporate Management Team and was also 
considered at Cabinet on 13th December 2017. 

Page 36



4.5 Sections 5 to 8 consider in further detail the proposed revisions to the MTFP 2018/19 
to 2021/22.

  

5.0 IMPLICATIONS OF PROVISIONAL SETTLEMENT

5.1 The Welsh Government’s Provisional Local Government Settlement was announced 
on 10th October 2017 and resulted in a reduction in Aggregate External Finance 
(AEF) for 2018/19 of 1% for Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. An indicative all 
Wales average settlement of a funding reduction of 1.5% for 2019/20 was also 
provided. 

5.2 The MTFP impact from the provisional settlement is outlined in Appendix 3 and is 
summarised in Table 3 and demonstrates increased spending power of £3.444 
million for 2018/19.

Table 3 – Implications of Provisional Local Government Settlement   

Description 2018/19 
£’000

2019/20 
£’000

2020/21 
£’000

Aggregate External Finance (AEF)
Transfers into the Settlement
New Responsibilities
Validation Amendments

-4,914
1,826

109
-465

-6,935
1,826

109
-408

-8,153
1,826

109
-408

Net Increase in Funding -3,444 -5,408 -6,626

5.3 The AEF consists of the total of Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and Redistributed 
Non Domestic Rates. Table 4 compares the budgeted AEF within the original MTFP 
with the revised finance assumptions included in the updated MTFP for 2018/19 to 
2021/22. 

Table 4 – Aggregate External Finance (AEF)

Description 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Original Budgeted AEF
Revised AEF

-4.5%
-1.0%

-4.5%
-2.0%

-4.5%
-2.0%

n/a
-2.0%

5.4 It is evident from Table 4 that the Council has provisionally received a better than 
budgeted revenue settlement for 2018/19, although Members are reminded that a 
‘worst case’ funding settlement was estimated for the term of the MTFP owing to the 
following:  

o The continuing austerity measures projected to be faced by Local 
Government over the medium term and the impact to potential future Local 
Government funding from continued financial pressures experienced in the 
National Health Service

Page 37



o The uncertainty surrounding the potential implications of Brexit
o Welsh Government’s indication that the 2017/18 revenue settlement was “as 

good as it gets” with potential significant reductions from 2018/19

5.5 It should be noted although the indicative settlement for 2019/20 is reported as an 
average funding reduction for Wales of 1.5% it is considered prudent for Merthyr 
Tydfil to budget for a funding reduction of 2% per annum for the period 2019/20 to 
2021/22. This is based on the fact that for 2018/19 Merthyr Tydfil’s provisional 
settlement of a funding reduction of 1% is 0.5% worse than the Wales average of 
0.5%.

5.6 Further detail in respect of ‘Transfers into the Settlement’, ‘New Responsibilities’ and 
‘Validation Amendments’ is provided in Appendix 3. 

6.0 CORPORATE ADDITIONAL DEMANDS

6.1 Managers have identified a number of additional financial demands, considered 
unavoidable, for inclusion in the MTFP, resulting from demographic growth, current 
and future service financial pressures, together with slippage and non-delivery of 
previously budgeted savings. These additional budget requirements are detailed in 
Appendix 4 and are summarised in Table 5.

Table 5 – Additional Budget Demands 

Description 2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

Education Related
Social Services
Neighbourhood Services
Corporate Costs

759
957
105
483

946
957
106
543

842
957
108
561

Total Additional Demands 2,304 2,552 2,468

6.2 It is evident from Table 5 that £2.304 million of corporate additional demands are 
proposed for the 2018/19 financial year.

6.3 It is recognised that without reflecting these additional expenditure requirements 
within the MTFP the Council will face significant financial pressures in remaining 
within Budget for 2018/19 and the medium to long term. All additional demand 
requirements however are subject to ongoing review with any identified 
amendments, owing to updated information, reported in due course.    

Page 38



7.0 CORPORATE BUDGET REDUCTIONS

7.1 A number of corporate budget reduction initiatives are proposed in assisting the 
Council in meeting its financial commitments for 2018/19 and beyond. These are 
detailed in Appendix 5 and summarised in Table 6.

7.2 It is evident from Table 6 that £2.362 million of corporate budget reduction initiatives 
are proposed for the 2018/19 financial year.

 Table 6 – Corporate Budget Reduction Initiatives 

Description 2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

Capital Financing Costs
Corporate Investment Fund
Corporate Vacancy Factor
Council Tax Benefit Payments
Audit Fees/Subscriptions
Insurance Premiums
Collection Fund Surplus
Holiday Pay/Living Wage Provision
Service Budget Review

-300
-600
-200
-100

-55
-153
-250
-220
-484

-290
-400

0
-150

-55
0

-250
-220
-574

-280
-400

0
-200

-55
0

-250
-220
-405

Total Corporate Budget Reductions -2,362 -1,939 -1,810

7.3 In addressing the requirements of ‘The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015’, the sustainability of all proposals has been considered in minimising the 
potential  impact on future Budgets.  

8.0 BUDGET RESERVE RE-PROFILE

8.1 To assist the Authority with its medium term financial planning and achievement of 
annual balanced budgets planned utilisation of the Budget Reserve is reflected 
within the Medium Term Financial Plan.

8.2 For the period 2018/19 to 2020/21 the Medium Term Financial Plan demonstrates 
the Council’s commitment to utilise £1.8 million of the Budget Reserve to assist with 
budget setting.

8.3 Table 7 indicates the proposed re-profile of the Budget Reserve to assist the budget 
setting process for 2018/19.

Page 39



Table 7 – Budget Reserve Re-profile 

Description 2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

Total
£’000

MTFP Approved Council 22/03/17
Proposed Re-profile

-800
-600

-600
200

-400
400

-1,800
0

Revised Budget Reserve Profile -1,400 -400 0 -1,800

8.4 It is evident from Table 7 that the proposed re-profile ensures a neutral impact on the 
Budget Reserve over the 3 year period 2018/19 to 2020/21. 

 

9.0 FURTHER BUDGET CONSIDERATIONS

9.1 In addressing the residual budget deficit of £1.910 million for 2018/19 outlined in 
Table 2 further budget reduction opportunities indicated in Table 8 are currently 
being identified and validated.

Table 8 – Further Revised Projected Budget Deficits (subject to validation)

Description 2018/19 
£’000

2019/20 
£’000

2020/21 
£’000

Revised Budget Deficit – Table 2

Service Budget Reduction Proposals
Education Related
Social Services
Neighbourhood Services
Community Regeneration
Corporate Service Functions

1,910

-29
-164
-370
-103
-264

8,871

-77
-164
-554
-105
-262

12,790

-98
-164
-567
-106
-258

Total Service Budget Reduction Proposals -930 -1,162 -1,193

Proposed Schools’ Savings -471 -471 -471

Indicative Revised Budget Deficit 509 7,238 11,126
 

9.2 Service Budget Reduction Proposals

9.2.1 Corporate Management Team has identified service budget reduction proposals of 
£930,000 for 2018/19 with the majority of the proposals discussed at the Budget 
Boards of 18th October 2017 and 15th November 2017.

9.2.2 Where appropriate business cases are currently being developed for consideration 
at Cabinet Workshops, Cabinet, Joint Audit/Scrutiny Committee and Council.

Page 40



9.2.3 All proposals were risk assessed by Chief Officers and Service Managers as 
achievable and deliverable with no adverse impact on the Council’s Wellbeing 
objectives.

9.3 Proposed Schools’ Savings   

9.3.1 With effect from the 2017/18 financial year Local Authorities are no longer mandated 
by the Welsh Government to apply cash protection for schools at 1% above Welsh 
Government’s funding from Central Government.

9.3.2 Following agreement with the Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 
Learning the Chief Finance Officer notified the Schools Forum of 10th November 
2017 of the Council’s proposals for schools’ budget savings for 2018/19. Against a 
Council funding reduction of 1% it is proposed that Schools through the Individual 
Schools Budget (ISB) receive a 0% (‘cash flat’) settlement for 2018/19. Comparing 
the provisional budget requirement for 2018/19 (reflecting salary increases, pupil 
numbers and increases in running costs) of £39.297 million to the approved budget 
for 2017/18 of £38.826 million results in Schools requiring to identify £471,000 of 
budget savings for 2018/19. The Schools Forum Working Group has begun the task 
of identifying the required savings and these will be presented to a future Council for 
consideration.

9.3.3  It should also be noted that on 24th October 2017, two weeks after the 
announcement of the Provisional Local Government Settlement, Councils were 
notified by the Welsh Government that the all Wales Education Improvement Grant 
(EIG) provided to schools through Welsh Government grant via the School 
Improvement Consortia was to reduce by 11.4% for 2018/19. When applied to 
Merthyr Tydfil the 11.4% reduction equates to £248,000 less monies received by 
schools through the Central South Consortium. The Schools Forum is also required 
to address this funding deficit.

 

10.0 COUNCIL TAX ASSUMPTIONS

10.1 The projected available funding and associated budget deficits over the term of the 
MTFP as indicated in Tables 2 and 8 are based on the following Council Tax 
assumptions:

o Council Tax increase of 2.9% per annum (as per 2017/18 actual)
o Council Tax collection rate of 96%
o Council Tax base of 18,069.24 (as per 2017/18 actual)

 
10.2 A 1% increase or reduction in the Council Tax increase for 2018/19 would reduce or 

increase the budget deficit by £260,000 respectively.

10.3 In addressing the indicative revised budget deficit of £509,000 for 2018/19, as 
outlined in Table 8, a Council Tax increase of 4.9% would be required unless further 
service reductions and/or budget reduction opportunities are identified. 

Page 41



11.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

11.1 The revised MTFP for 2018/19 to 2021/22 currently projects a budget deficit of 
£509,000 for 2018/19 and £11.126 million for the three year period 2018/19 to 
2020/21, subject to the approval of all proposals in respect of service budget 
reductions and schools’ savings.

12.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

12.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Medium Term Financial 
Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21

Provisional Local 
Government Settlement 
2018/19

Provisional Revenue 
Settlement and Medium 
Term Financial Plan 
Review - Presentation

Medium Term Financial 
Plan / Budget Working 
Papers

Council 22nd March 
2017

Announced 10th October 
2017

Budget Board 18th 
October 2017

March 2017 to 
November 2017

Council agenda and minutes / 
Finance Department

Finance Department

Finance Department

Finance Department

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 42



Appendix 1
Welsh Local Government Revenue Settlement 2018-2019
Provisional

Table 1a: Change in Aggregate External Finance (AEF) plus top-up funding, adjusted for transfers, by Unitary Authority
£'000s

Isle of Anglesey 94,978 94,924 -0.1% 2
Gwynedd 174,043 173,859 -0.1% 4
Conwy 154,313 152,770 -1.0% 17
Denbighshire 143,409 142,144 -0.9% 15
Flintshire 189,519 187,816 -0.9% 16
Wrexham 174,049 173,485 -0.3% 8
Powys 174,388 172,644 -1.0% 17
Ceredigion 100,200 99,905 -0.3% 7
Pembrokeshire 160,765 160,084 -0.4% 9
Carmarthenshire 259,147 257,960 -0.5% 12
Swansea 316,776 316,499 -0.1% 3
Neath Port Talbot 211,783 210,832 -0.4% 11
Bridgend 191,878 190,718 -0.6% 13
The Vale of Glamorgan 152,666 151,996 -0.4% 10
Rhondda Cynon Taf 362,790 362,219 -0.2% 5
Merthyr Tydfil 90,589 89,683 -1.0% 17
Caerphilly 268,282 265,600 -1.0% 17
Blaenau Gwent 110,870 109,761 -1.0% 17
Torfaen 131,805 130,800 -0.8% 14
Monmouthshire 93,939 93,000 -1.0% 17
Newport 212,234 211,682 -0.3% 6
Cardiff 436,913 437,867 0.2% 1

Total unitary authorities 4,205,337 4,186,247 -0.5%

Unitary Authority
2017-18 final Aggregate 

External Finance* plus top-up 
funding

2018-19 provisional 
Aggregate External Finance 

plus top-up funding

Percentage 
difference Rank

P
age 43



Appendix 2
Changes in Key Datasets 

Dataset 2017-18 
Final

2018-19 
Provisional

% 
Difference Rank 2017-18 

Final
2018-19 

Provisional
% 

Difference

Population projections 59,180 59,219 0.1% 19 3,116,371 3,125,332 0.3%

Pupil Numbers - Nursery and Primary 5,278 5,286 0.2% 17 261,391 263,464 0.8%

Pupil Numbers - Secondary in year groups 7-11 2,856 2,854 -0.1% 12 156,986 157,260 0.2%

Free School Meals - Primary 1,074 1,009 -6.1% 15 46,265 45,137 -2.4%

Free School Meals - Secondary 614 599 -2.4% 11 27,055 26,298 -2.8%

Children in out of work families 3,400 3,300 -2.9% 9 133,400 129,400 -3.0%

IS/ JSA/ PC/UC (not in employment) claimants - 18 to 64 2,916 2,433 -16.6% 17 106,468 90,588 -14.9%

IS/ JSA/ PC claimants - 65+ 2,493 2,398 -3.8% 1 121,761 115,720 -5.0%

IS/ JSA/ PC/UC (not in employment) claimants - all ages 5,417 4,840 -10.6% 19 228,789 206,818 -9.6%

SDA/DLA/PIP claimants - 18 to 64 3,893 3,877 -0.4% 15 145,035 145,526 0.3%

Where:

IS = Income Support

JSA = Job Seekers Allowance

PC = Pension Credit

UC = Universal Credit

SDA = Severe Disablement Allowance

DLA = Disability Living Allowance

PIP = Personal Independence Payment

Merthyr Tydfil Wales

P
age 44



Appendix 3
Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22
Impact of Provisional Local Government Revenue Settlement

Description 2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

Aggregate External Finance  (Note 1)
Budgeted Settlement  (Note 2)
Provisional Settlement  (Note 3)

84,769
89,683

80,954
87,889

77,978
86,131

Increase in Aggregate External Finance  (Note 4) -4,914 -6,935 -8,153

Transfers In to the Settlement  (Note 5)
Waste Element of Single Revenue Grant
Welsh Independent Living Grant
Social Care Workforce Grant
Looked After Children
Carers’ Respite Care Grant

598
565
408
190

65

598
565
408
190

65

598
565
408
190

65
Total Transfers In 1,826 1,826 1,826

New Responsibilities  (Note 6)
Homelessness Prevention 109 109 109
Total New Responsibilities 109 109 109

Validation Amendments  (Note 7)
Social Care Workforce Grant
Homelessness Prevention

-408
-57

-408
0

-408
0

Total Validation Amendments -465 -408 -408

Net Impact of Provisional Revenue Settlement -3,444 -5,408 -6,626

Notes

1. The Aggregate External Finance (AEF) consists of the total of Revenue Support 
Grant and Redistributed Non Domestic Rates

2. Based on indicative Council projected AEF of -4.5% for 2018/19 to 2020/21
3. Based on Provisional Welsh Government AEF of -1% for 2018/19 and estimated 

Council AEF of -2% for 2019/20 to 2020/21
4. Based on 2017/18 Council Tax Base of 18,069.24 (96% collection rate)
5. Transfers in to the Settlement of monies previously held outside the Settlement as 

specific grants
6. Additional monies included within the Settlement in respect of new responsibilities
7. Relates to amendments to transfers in and new responsibilities reflecting monies 

already included within the Medium Term Financial Plan and current anticipated 
requirements

Page 45



Appendix 4

Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22
Corporate Additional Demands

Description 2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

Individual Schools Budget (ISB)
Further requirement following the re-calculation of 
the ISB reflecting need and pupil numbers based 
on 2017/18 service provision                       

198 379 268

Learning – Enhanced Provision
Additional requirement reflects  current actual pupil 
demand in system as evidenced by the projected 
budget overspend in 2017/18,  £139,000 reported 
to Cabinet of 22nd November 2017 in respect of 2nd 
Quarter 

146 149 152

Learning – Speech Therapists
Council approved budget reduction for 2017/18 not 
realised. Meeting required with Cwm Taf University 
Health Board and Rhondda Cynon Taf County 
Borough Council to negotiate costs

9 9 9

Learning – Special Tuition
Additional requirement reflects  current actual pupil 
demand in system as evidenced by the projected 
budget overspend in 2017/18,  £93,000 reported to 
Cabinet of 22nd November 2017 in respect of 2nd 
Quarter

92 93 95

Learning – Special Needs Advisory Teachers
Reflects increase in Service Level Agreements 
with Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
for Vision Impairment Teaching and Mobility of 
£23,000 (£12,000 to £35,000) and Additional 
Learning Needs Equipment of £5,000 (£10,000 to 
£15,000)

28 28 28

School Transport – Special Educational Needs
Relates to additional contracts and revisions to 
prices. 28 contract requests made between July 
2017 and September 2017

199 199 199

Page 46



Appendix 4 (continued)

Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22
Corporate Additional Demands

Description 2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

Children Looked After Residential Placements
Reflects financial pressures resulting from 
additional residential placements as evidenced by 
the projected budget overspend in 2017/18, 
£331,000 reported to Cabinet of 22nd November 
2017 in respect of 2nd Quarter

340 340 340

Neighbourhood Services – Street Cleansing
Reflects employment of additional Fly Tipping 
Clearance team in order to achieve 5 day 
clearance target. Relates to 2 agency employees 
plus transport.

50 51 53

School Transport
Reflects additional contracts and revisions to 
prices

87 89 91

Neighbourhood Services – Street Lighting
Relates to 6 year  rolling programme of compliance 
testing of the street lighting assets consisting of 
electrical network/column testing and structural 
column testing

30 30 30

Corporate Services - Benefits
Reflects the Department for Work and Pensions’ 
indication that Housing Benefit Administration 
Grant will reduce to circa £245,000 in 2018/19 and 
by a further 10% in each subsequent year

51 71 89

Corporate Property - Rentals
Reflects loss of rental income following Cabinet 
approved sales of Pontcae Surgery (£18,000) and 
Gurnos Farm (£6,250) on 22nd March 2017 and 
13th September 2017 respectively

25 25 25

Page 47



Appendix 4 (continued)

Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22
Corporate Additional Demands

Description 2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

Customer Programme
Delivery of £280,000 of the budgeted savings of 
£500,000 included within the Medium Term 
Financial Plan considered unachievable at this 
time. Business cases considered at Audit 
Committee on 1st December 2017 and Governance 
Scrutiny Committee on 8th December 2017 prior to 
consideration at Council on 13th December 2017. 
In addition £27,000 additional monies is required to 
support the extension of the Revenues and 
Benefits software support and maintenance 
contract including enhancements to support the full 
implementation of the Customer Programme – 
considered at Cabinet of 13th December 2017.

307 307 307

Supporting People
Delivery of £200,000 of the budgeted savings of 
£400,000 included within the Medium Term 
Financial Plan considered unachievable at this 
time

200 200 200

Strategic Social Services
Delivery of £417,000 of the budgeted savings of 
£1.01 million for 2018/19 and £1.31 million 
thereafter included within the Medium Term 
Financial Plan considered unachievable in the 
short-term. These include Business Cases in 
respect of Day Centres and Care Homes. 

417 417 417

Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust
The budgeted management fee reduction of 
£100,000 included within the Medium Term 
Financial Plan is considered unrealistic until the 
Trust’s financial position stabilizes. An additional 
financial contribution to the Leisure Trust for 
2017/18 was approved by Council on 22nd 
November 2017.  

100 100 100

Page 48



Appendix 4 (continued)

Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22
Corporate Additional Demands

Description 2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

South Wales Fire and Rescue Service Levy
The Council was notified on 7th November 2017 of 
the South Wales Fire and Rescue Service’s 
intention to increase its levy to its constituent Local 
Authorities for 2018/19 by 1.36%. Merthyr Tydfil’s 
proposed equivalent increase is 1.08% resulting in 
a total proposed levy for 2018/19 of £2,772,639. In 
responding to the consultation exercise the Council 
has expressed its view that the levy should mirror 
the Local Government Revenue Settlement 
whereby the Council suffered a 1% reduction in 
funding. 
 

25 25 25

Energy Levy
Reflects the increase in the Climate Change Levy 
to 0.847 pence per KWh for electricity and 0.339 
pence per KWh for gas. Additional costs relating to 
2018/19 are met from the existing Energy Levy 
budget. 

0 40 40

Total 2,304 2,552 2,468

Page 49



Appendix 5

Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22
Corporate Budget Reductions

Description 2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

Capital Financing Costs
Negotiation of early repayment of £12 million long-
term loans with Commerzbank in January/February 
2018. Relates to Lender Option/Borrower Option 
(LOBO) loans at current coupon rate of 4.5%. The 
anticipated savings are net of an estimated 
premium charge of £4.6 million for early 
repayment.

-300 -290 -280

Corporate Investment Fund
Relinquishment of budgeted contribution of 
£600,000 for 2018/19 whilst reflecting reduced 
contributions of £200,000 for 2019/20 and 2020/21. 
The Fund balance at 31st March 2018 is 
anticipated to be in excess of £600,000 offering 
further support for invest-to-save opportunities. In 
addition further contributions to the Fund may 
result from ongoing reviews of and release from 
earmarked reserves balances.

-600 -400 -400

Corporate Vacancy Factor
Relates to savings resulting from the time elapsing 
between core funded posts becoming vacant and 
being filled. Proposal to increase budget from 
£400,000 to £600,000 for 2018/19 reflecting the 
surplus outturn reported for 2016/17 and projected 
for 2017/18.

-200 0 0

Council Tax Benefit Payments
Relates to the council tax reduction scheme and is 
based on eligible caseload. As at 31st October 
2017 caseload was 6,695 compared to 7,668 when 
scheme was introduced in 2013/14. Budget was 
reduced by £200,000 from 2017/18 but it is 
considered that a further budget reduction can be 
accommodated.

-100 -150 -200

External Audit and Inspection Fees
Wales Audit Office Audit Plan for 2017 reflects a 
reduction in fees from £338,000 to £313,000 for 
2017/18 with current budget set at £380,000.

-50 -50 -50

Page 50



Appendix 5 (continued)

Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22
Corporate Budget Reductions

Description 2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

Insurance Premiums
Proposed ‘one-off’ reduction of contribution to 
insurance premium costs from £553,000 to 
£400,000 for 2018/19 with the Insurance Fund 
covering any shortfall. A £500,000 insurance fund 
injection “holiday” is already approved for 2017/18 
and 2018/19 with an Insurance Fund balance of 
£2.382 million at 31st March 2017. An Insurance 
Provision of £1.004 million at 31st March 2017 also 
exists reflecting the Authority’s outstanding 
insurance claims obligations.

-153 0 0

Subscriptions
This consists of annual subscriptions to the Welsh 
Local Government Association (£78,000), Society 
of Welsh Treasurers (£3,000), Institute of Public 
Finance Statistics (£8,000), South Wales Local 
Resilience Forum (£5,000) and Consortium of 
Local Authorities in Wales (£1,000).
Saving of £5,000 against budgeted £100,000.

-5 -5 -5

Collection Fund Surplus
Based on trend data and projected council tax 
income due it is anticipated that budgeted 
£600,000 will be exceeded by a minimum of 
£200,000.

-250 -250 -250

Holiday Pay
Responding to case law this relates to holiday pay 
for employees regularly working above contracted 
hours. Proposal to release £70,000 of budgeted 
£100,000 since additional costs absorbed within 
service areas.

-70 -70 -70

Living Wage Provision
This provision is no longer required since the 
commitment has been absorbed within service 
budgets.

-150 -150 -150

Page 51



Appendix 5 (continued)

Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22
Corporate Budget Reductions

Description 2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

Service Budget Review
This relates to adjustments to the Medium Term 
Financial Plan reflecting  salary grades and points, 
membership of the pension fund, business rates 
and general assumptions where applicable

-484 -574 -405

Total -2,362 -1,939 -1,810

Page 52



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

TRADE UNION FACILITIES

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 Council will be aware of the positive and harmonious relationship that the Council 
has with its Trade Unions.  The current facilities agreement commenced in January 
2016.  For the first time, full time trade union positions were offered to the two largest 
trade union organisations (UNISON and GMB).  At that time, GMB rejected the offer, 
resulting in just one trade union official (UNISON).  

1.2 With the recent budget settlement being announced, Council has set itself a 
challenge to continue with the implementation of the change programme over the 
course of the remaining financial year into and including 2019/2020.  It is therefore 
critical that the Council’s Business Change programme can continue at pace with the 
continued involvement of Trade Union Colleagues. 

1.3 The Council has a legal obligation to consult on all proposals that affect employees. 
Consultation through collective bargaining is with the recognised trades unions. It is 
therefore imperative that the trades unions have a “reasonable” amount of facilities 
time to undertake this consultation with the officers of the Council.  

1.4 Working collectively, the Council has minimised the necessity for compulsory 
redundancies over ten years of austerity measures.   

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that

2.1 Facilities in terms of full time representation be approved for the Council’s largest 
two trade unions (UNISON and GMB), with effect from 1st January 2018 to 1st 
January 2020, for an initial two year period with a possible one year extension            

Date Written 28th November 2017
Report Author Jeremy Ashdown
Service Area Human Resources
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 13th December 2017

Page 53

Agenda Item 7



(subject to further approval from full Council at that time).

2.2 The recommendations in the report regarding the Trade Union (Wales) bill be noted.  

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is a unionised organisation and forms part of 
the National Employers group for the National Joint Committee (NJC) Green Book 
terms and conditions of employment. This sets out for the Council a need to 
recognise collective bargaining with trades unions.

3.2 The Local Government “Green Book”, which is a national agreement applying to 
most local authorities in England, Wales and Northern Ireland, contains a short 
section on “Trade Union Facilities”. Section 18.1 states “Authorities shall provide the 
recognised trade unions with facilities necessary to carry out their functions, 
including paid leave of absence to attend meetings concerned with the work of the 
NJC and Provincial Councils and the operation of a check off system whereby, with 
the consent of the individual, trade union dues are deducted from pay.” The details of 
facility time arrangements are negotiated at local level. 

3.3 All organisations are obliged to adhere to employment law, and the Trade Unions 
and Labour Relations Act (TULRCA) 1992 sets out that all employers that recognise 
unions are legally obliged to consult with them as part of collective bargaining when 
specific types of employment issues are being changed. 

3.4 As part of this legal obligation, all employers have to give trades union 
representatives “reasonable” paid time during working hours to be able to undertake 
their duties of supporting their union members in any workplace issues.

4.0 REASONS FOR FORMAL REVIEW

4.1 The Council is currently formally reviewing arrangements with Trade Unions.  
Meetings currently take place weekly.  Consultation is currently ongoing with Trade 
Unions (with a view to jointly agreeing a new facilities agreement with the main 
Unions (Unison, GMB and Unite).  Whilst considerable progress has been made with 
Trade Unions to date, the challenges facing local government remains in relation to 
change is significant. This is largely in recognition of the consistently changing 
external environment, which is described as being Volatile, Uncertain, Complex and 
Ambiguous (VUCA).  

4.2 Our challenge is not only in terms of reducing our workforce, but also in terms of 
equipping managers and staff with the skills, values, and belief they need to address 
these challenges together in meeting the needs of our citizens in Merthyr Council.  
With continuing reducing public subsidy, this will require new ways of working.  Our 
internal response will be determined by reinforcing our Vision, Understanding, Clarity 
and Agility (VUCA).  Trade Unions have a significant role to play in helping the 
Council to fulfil this.

Page 54



4.3 Last year the UK Government passed the Trade Union Act 2016. The Act imposes 
stringent new strike ballot thresholds in public services and also monitors and 
restricts the activities of trade unions in supporting the workforce.  The NHS, 
education, local government and the fire service are examples of devolved public 
services which are the responsibility of the National Assembly for Wales. 

4.4 The Trade Union (Wales) Bill will disapply three core sections of the UK 
Government’s ‘Trade Union Act 2016 in relation to the devolved public sector.  In 
summary, the bill will remove:

4.5 The procedure at Merthyr is to charge a nominal 2.5% deduction fee to each of its 
trade unions in respect of administrative charges.  

 any restrictions from public bodies on the deduction of union subscriptions 
from wages by employers.  The bill imposes criteria regarding employees not 
being penalised should they have deductions being made directly from 
payroll.  Neither should costs be met from the public purse.  This is commonly 
referred to as “Checkoff” ;

 any powers that require the publication of information on facility time and to 
impose requirements on public sector employers in relation to paid facility 
time; and 

 the 40% ballot support threshold for industrial action affecting important public 
services and restrict agency cover being used to cover established employees 
in the event of industrial action.

5.0 COUNCIL ARRANGEMENTS

5.1 The criteria regarding “reasonable” time isn’t defined in law; it is for employers and 
unions to agree. Having had these discussions locally, and following a review of the 
other 21 Welsh Authorities and their current amount of trade’s union facilities time, it 
was deemed “reasonable” to create two full time branch secretary positions for the 
two largest unions (UNISON and GMB). 

5.2 UNISON currently has a 1.0 FTE union administration post within the HR Structure 
paid for by the local authority.  This was created two years ago when a previous 
branch secretary left the authority under early retirement, and the full time branch 
secretary role was replaced by the administrative role.  

5.3 Based on a similar level of membership, GMB was offered a similar arrangement.  
GMB decided to reject the proposal in light of the organisational changes being 
made at that time.  The proposed agreement includes office space provided by the 
Council from secure offices at the Civic Offices for UNISON and GMB.   In addition, 
there is a Union Administration Post.  UNISON contributes 50% of salary contribution 
to this post.  This forms part of the current facilities time for GMB which has part time 
representation. 

5.4 In comparison, UNITE have a small representation of membership within the 
authority and therefore do not require any additional facilities time than they have 
currently.

Page 55

https://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s65212/Trade%20Union%20Wales%20Bill,%20as%20passed.pdf


5.5 If approved, the facilities time will be a secondment for the branch secretaries of both 
Unison and GMB.  This means that the substantive positions remain legally the main 
post of the seconded employees. When the secondment ends (January 1st 2020), 
the employee’s will have a right to return to their substantive roles. 

5.6 Should the current branch secretary of either UNISON or GMB step down from the 
union role or another employee is voted in as branch secretary, then the current 
incumbent would revert back to the substantive role. This would trigger another 
employee taking the full time facilities role. 

5.7 Levels of Trade Union Membership and SLA fees are as follows :

Membership 2015/2016 
Facility

2018/20 
Proposal

Unison 860 1.0 FTE 
Rep, and 

costs 
towards 
Admin 
Officer

1.0 FTE 
representation

GMB 600 0.5 FTE 
Part Time 

Rep

1.0 FTE 
representation

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

6.1 The process for agreeing a branch secretary for a trades union is set out in law. 
There is no means to set a local salary grade for the facilities time as the employee 
who has been nominated and appointed within the trades union ballot to become the 
branch secretary must be able to undertake their union duties without any loss of 
remuneration. This means that the authority would need to continue to pay the salary 
of the employee’s substantive post whilst undertaking the union duties.

6.2 There is a Grade 3 post within the HR budget where half a post (0.5 FTE) is used by 
Unison for administration duties. It has been agreed that Unison will fully pay for this 
cost. This comes to £10,295 with on costs.

6.3 The services that hold the substantive roles of two full time trade union officials will 
also need to be replaced as there are significant risks otherwise. The two roles are 
senior social worker and Parks and Ground Maintenance Manager. . 

6.4 The salary budget for 2018 for two full time branch secretaries is £68,907.  There is 
no identifiable budget to resource the two full time representatives.  The funding for 
the Unison post is currently being funded through earmarked reserves up until 31st 
March 2018.  Additional funding would need to be made to continue to support the 
UNISON representative and GMB.

6.5 The revised agreement also includes a requirement for the facilities agreement to be 
reviewed collectively every year during the term of the two year period. 

Page 56



7.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

& CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 57



DRAFT Trade Union Facilities Agreement
Merthyr County Borough Council

V6 29 November 2017 (Draft)

Page 58



1. AGREEMENT

The agreement is made on [ ] between

1) Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council ;
and

2) UNISON ;
3) GMB ;
4) Unite the Union.

The agreement relates to union members, union learning representatives and the union members.

1.1 Definitions
The following terms used in this agreement mirror the terms used in the ACAS Code of 
Practice on time off for trade union duties and activities, which is a Code under s.199 of 
the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992 (TULR(C )A):

“Union representative” means an employee who has been elected or appointed, in 
accordance with the rules of an independent trade union, to represent all or some of the 
members within the workplace where the trade union is recognised by the Council for 
collective bargaining purposes.

“Union learning representative” means an employee who has been elected or appointed, 
in accordance with the rules of an independent trade union, to be a learning 
representative of the union at the workplace.

“Union member” means a member of an independent trade union recognised by the 
organisation I respect of that description of employee.

“The Council” means Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council.

1.2 Duration

This facilities agreement is for an initial term of two years (1st January 2018 to 1st January 
2020), with an additional possible one year extension to 31st December 2020 subject to 
the agreement of an extension at full Council at that time.  Should the secondment of full 
time representatives be terminated at any point, within the timeframe of this 
agreement, the full time representative shall return to their substantive position.

1.3 Purpose

The purpose of this agreement is to :

 Engender good employment relations to undertake effective consultation and 
negotiation;

 Enable the recognised trade unions to represent their union members;
 Provide guidelines of what is ‘reasonable’ time given to union representatives to 

undertake their duties.

This agreement relates to Trade Union officials employed directly by Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council together with Regional Representatives.  Other Trade Union 
representatives from other Local Authorities are not required to act for or represent 
employees of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council without prior written consent from 
the relevant trade union.

1.4 Administration and Communication

Page 59



The Council will provide union representatives with the following facilities to enable 
them to communicate with the union’s members and to promote good employment 
relations

 A room within one of the Council buildings ;
 A telephone for union related duties;
 A Personal Computer (PC) with access to folders to store union data ;
 Permission to use notice boards for communicating with members and publicising 

the union ;
 Permission to use the PC to communicate electronically with members ;
 Access to photocopying equipment ;
 Permission to use Council’s postal system.

The trade union must obtain permission from the Head of HR to hold meetings on the 
organisation’s premises.  Union members must have permission from their line manager 
before leaving their place of work to meet with their union representative.

Trade unions must adhere to the Council’s policies such as security, ICT, Code of Conduct 
and all policies that affect employees.  This also includes not breaching data protection 
and confidentiality.  

The trade union and their members are also expected to follow the Council’s Core Values 
and Behaviours.  The Council acknowledges that the trade union has a right to communicate 
in private with its members.

The Council will endeavour to find suitable office accommodation for trade union 
representatives with meeting facilities wherever possible subject to availability.

1.5 Union Subscriptions

The Council will operate a facility whereby union subscriptions are deducted from the 
Council’s payroll system and paid directly to the union.  However, it is acknowledged that 
the union may encourage union members to pay for their subscriptions directly to the union.

1.6 Notifying of new union representatives

The trade union will put in writing to the Head of HR any newly elected representatives 
within the workplace, including their name, job title and location of work.  The trade union 
will determine the appropriate number of representatives they wish to appoint, having due 
regard for the size of the organisation and location of its members.
No union member or elected representative will be discriminated against for being a 
member of a trade union or carrying our reasonable and valid duties on behalf of the trade 
union.

For reasons of confidentiality, Trade Unions reserve the right to maintain confidentiality of 
LGBT Officers for those who request anonymity.  

2. TIME OFF FOR TRADE UNION DUTIES

It is recognised that it is not possible to be overly prescriptive about all duties and time allocated to 
carry them out.  It is agreed that the requests for time off will be reasonable, relevant and 
commensurate with the duties that are required.

Page 60



The time given to representatives will not be expected to be worked back, unless this has been 
agreed in advance between the representative and manager.  For some jobs, part of the work may 
still need to be completed by the representative at a later date.

2.1 Examples of Trade Union duties

Time to undertake duties will be paid.  The following denotes examples of a duty:
 Attending formal meetings with a member ;
 Prepare information for a case with a member ;
 Attending consultation and negotiation meetings ;
 Meeting full time officers to discuss workplace issues ;
 Conducting legally compliant elections ;
 Involvement in the collective bargaining process ;
 Official trade union meetings (internally, regionally and nationally).

Any activity that amounts to industrial action will not accrue time off.
2.2 Procedure for requesting leave

Union representatives need to ensure that by taking leave they are not causing 
unreasonable disruption or risk to the Service delivery and operation.

The union representative will request leave with their manager as early as is practicably 
possible.  As much notice should be given to enable the manager to secure business 
continuity.

Representatives are required to complete facilities time recording on a regular basis using 
HR21 where possible.  The Branch Secretary will forward information to the Head of HR on 
request.  This would also include the time of the Branch Secretary if deemed appropriate.

The Branch Secretary and the Head of HR will discuss the details of time off for each elected 
representative to ensure that the time is balanced, fair and reasonable to undertake trade 
union duties.

The council will arrange for back-filling of representatives where this is required, with 
additional funding support towards administrative cover (as agreed).  

The union representative and manager will follow the steps below:

 Union representative will inform the manager as soon as is practicably possible that 
they require time to undertake their union duties l

 The representative will inform the manager of the date and time of the duty, 
expected duration, and location of the duty (for confidentiality reasons, no 
information of the reason or employee involved will need to be shared) ;

 The line manager will consider the requires and assess how they can maintain 
effective service provision during the absence (this will not be unreasonable, and the 
manager must make every effort to release the representative);

 The line manager will respond back to the representative as soon as is possible, and 
in any case in advance of the time and date required so that the union can arrange 
an alternative representative if necessary ;

Page 61



 The line manager, if unable to release the representative must give a reason why this 
is not possible.

Each service will have varying business demands and should agree when the most 
appropriate times and days are able to be allocated for trade union duties.  
To enable union learning representative’s time off to undertake their duties, the trade union 
must give the Head of HR notice in writing that the employee has been elected to undertake 
these duties.

The trade union will inform the Head of HR in writing when time is required to train 
representatives during the working week for the purpose of collective bargaining.  
Dates and details of training courses being undertaken during a representative’s working 
week must be given to the relevant manager and Head of HR at least one week in advance of 
start of the training course.

The representative and their trade union will act reasonably in regards to the notice given 
and amount of time taken during the day and week so as not to impact on service delivery.  
Where possible, duties should be shared between elected representatives within the 
workforce to minimise any disruption.

2.3 Calculating paid time off

Paid release shall be calculated as if the person had worked the duration of the facilities 
time.  If the representative works a varied week, there might be need to work out an 
average over a reference period of the average hourly earnings for the work they are 
employed to do.  The underlying principle is that the representative should not lose or gain 
financially by the fact that they have undertaken union duties.

Paid time will only be given when the representative would have ordinarily have been 
undertaking their work as part of their contract of employment.

Duties required outside of the contracted hours that are essential for the bargaining process 
of the Council will be recompensed through flexi leave in accordance with the rules of the 
service.

2.4 Trade union activities

Representatives will be allowed a reasonable amount of unpaid time for undertaking 
activities.  These include:

 Industrial Action
 Non Council related meetings
 Training courses with no bearing on the Council’s requirements or elected 

representative role
 Organising workplace elections

2.5 Other Facilities

The Council will be responsible for the provision and costs of administration support, 
telephone bills, computers, photocopying, printing, postage, any travel expenses and 
stationery relating to union business.

Page 62



2.5.1 The Council will provide suitable office accommodation for union representatives to 
undertake their duties and will provide technical support for the computers when 
required.  The Council will endeavour to find suitable office accommodation for 
trade union representatives with meeting facilities wherever possible subject to 
availability.

2.5.2 The Council will ensure that the Trade Union has the facility to book meeting room 
space when involved in a grievance or disciplinary matter to enable them to discuss 
confidential matters with their member/members. The trade union representative 
will need to book these rooms at an appropriate location.

2.5.3 Recognised unions are allowed to communicate with their members on union issues 
through the use of emails sent via the Councils’ intranet but not allowed to circulate 
any material which is contrary to the Council’s acceptable use policy.

2.5.4 The Trade Unions will provide notice boards and the Council will permit these to be 
displayed with Trade Union information, in agreed locations at Council premises.

2.5.5 The employer reserves the right to withdraw facilities in the context of Trade    
Unions conducting a strike or taking other industrial action, therefore during such 
action, there would be a deduction to their pay.

2.5.6  Trade union meetings attended by employees during the working day should 
normally be held at appropriate business/office premises.  

3 DISPUTES

The Council and the trade union will make every effort to resolve disputes around facilities time.  If a 
representative has a dispute in regards to their line manager’s decision on facilities time, they need 
to inform their Branch Secretary.  If they are the Branch Secretary, they need to inform their 
Regional Representative.  The matter should always be referred to the Head of HR.

The Branch Secretary / Regional Representative and the Head of HR will discuss regularly any issues 
with facilities time as part of their joint monitoring process.

If agreement cannot be reached, the matter can be referred to the weekly Joint Negotiating 
Consultative Committee (JNCC).  The Council recognises the right of a trade union to defer a matter 
of dispute to an employment tribunal.

If an elected Trade Union Officer becomes the subject of an investigation or is to be suspended from 
his/her post MTCBC will inform the relevant Trade Union Regional Officer in advance of any decision 
being communicated to that Trade Union Officer.  Whilst we will always endeavour to contact the 
Trade Union Regional Officer, this does not preclude the Council from taking immediate suspension 
action should the issue be of a very serious nature, (i.e. potentially subject to an offence amounting 
to Gross Misconduct)”.  

AMENDMENT OR TERMINATION OF THE AGREEMENT

Page 63



Either side may submit proposals in order to amend this agreement.  Such proposals will be in 
writing to the sides concerned and will be the subject of joint discussions via the JNCC.  Both sides to 
agree to review this agreement every twelve months.

4 CONFIDENTIALITY

When using facilities provided by the employer for the purposes of communication with their 
members or their trade union, union representatives must comply with agreed procedures both in 
respect of the use of such facilities and also in respect of access to and use of the Council’s 
information. The agreed procedures if not detailed in this agreement will be the general rules applied 
to all employees in the organisation. In particular, union representatives must respect and maintain 
the confidentiality of information they are given access to where, the disclosure would seriously 
harm the functioning of, or would be prejudicial to, the employer’s business interests.

5 COLLECTIVE PROJECTS

In addition to operational delivery, it is proposed that continued collaboration takes place in relation 
to (and not limited to) the following collective projects :

 Health and Safety
 Change Management
 Equality and Inclusion
 Restructuring Proposals
 Workforce Development
 Performance Management
 TUC Dying to Work Campaign
 Employee Engagement (excluding Staff Forum)
 Embedding Organisational Culture and Values
 Time to Change Wales (Mental Health and Wellbeing)

Agreed:

__________________________________ Council   _______________________Date

__________________________________ UNISON  _______________________Date

__________________________________ GMB   _______________________Date

__________________________________ UNITE  ______________________Date

Page 64



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Workplace Stress Policy

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report deals with the issue of work related stress and what the Council can do to 
manage its effects across all its service areas.

1.2 Estimates from the Labour Force Survey show that stress, depression or anxiety 
accounts for 40% of all work-related ill health cases and 49% of all working days lost 
due to ill health in the UK.  Stress is more prevalent in public service industries, such 
as education, health and social care activities and public administration.

1.3 The main work factors cited by respondents as causing work related stress were 
workload pressures, including tight deadlines and too much responsibility and a lack 
of managerial support.

1.4 The external environment has changed significantly, particularly as a result of 
austerity measures being introduced nearly ten years ago.  The Council values the 
contribution and commitment of all of its staff.  As such, it distributed its inaugural 
Stress Survey in June 2017 where all staff had the opportunity to comment on their 
levels of stress at work.  Although Council managers undertake regular health and 
safety risk assessments, work related stress can sometimes be overlooked.

1.5 The Council is committed to caring for its staff and supporting the subject of mental 
health generally.  In 2015, the Council signed the Time to Change Wales Pledge, a 
national campaign to end the stigma and discrimination faced by people with mental 
health problems.  In addition, work is ongoing to support Council employees who are 
diagnosed with mental health conditions.

Date Written 28th  November 2017
Report Author Alyn Dinham
Service Area Human Resources
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 13th December 2017

Page 65

Agenda Item 8



1.6 The Council was recently recognised as having the lowest levels of sickness 
absence across all 22 Welsh Local Authorities.  In order to reduce this further, and to 
meet its legal duty to reduce risk to the lowest level reasonably practicable, a 
‘Workplace Stress Policy’ has been prepared.  

1.7 The policy, together with other initiatives such as the Managers Academy, will help 
managers to identify stress proactively in themselves and others, to ensure that 
levels of resilience and wellbeing are effective during times of continuous change.  

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that

2.1 Council approves the Workplace Stress Policy.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 While some workplace stress is normal, excessive stress can interfere with 
productivity and performance as well as negatively impact the physical and 
emotional health of employees.

3.2 High levels of stress in the workplace can lead to:

 poor decision making;
 an increase in mistakes;
 increased sickness and absence;
 high staff turnover;
 poor employee / employer relations.

3.3 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is committed to protecting the health, safety 
and welfare at work of all its employees.

3.4 The Council recognises that workplace stress is a health and safety issue and 
acknowledges the importance of identifying and reducing workplace stressors.

3.5 The Council’s Health and Safety team has already run the first in a series of 
employee workplace stress surveys.

3.6 Early findings from the survey indicate that many staff are reporting issues with the 
demands placed upon them at work.  This is foreseeable in terms of the ongoing 
austerity measures and budget shortfalls that the Council has had to deal with in 
recent years.  Foreseeability is important because it increases the onus on the 
Council to take steps to manage the risk.

3.7 The implementation of the Workplace Stress Policy will help the Council meet its 
duty to manage work related stress.

Page 66



4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

4.1 There are no financial implications associated with the implementation of this policy.

5.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Workplace Stress Policy 28 Nov 2017
 Consultation hub
 Health & Safety office,     

Room 415, Civic Centre

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



Workplace Stress Policy

  Approved at Council: 13th December 2017 Last review:  n/a

  Implemented: 14th December 2017 Next review: June 2018

                                         
                                           Lead author:  Alyn DinhamPage 69



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
2

Contents

1.0 INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................................3

2.0 DEFINITION OF STRESS..................................................................................................3

3.0 WHY  WORKPLACE STRESS IS A PROBLEM ...............................................................3

4.0 POLICY STATEMENT .......................................................................................................4

5.0 LEGAL POSITION .............................................................................................................4

6.0 ROLES & RESPONSIBILITIES .........................................................................................5

APPENDIX A:   COMMON WORKPLACE STRESS FACTORS .................................................8

APPENDIX B:   THE STRESS MANAGEMENT STANDARDS.................................................10

APPENDIX C:   COMPETENCY FRAMEWORK FOR LINE MANAGERS................................24

APPENDIX D:   STRESS MANAGEMENT COMPETENCY INDICATOR TOOL ......................28

APPENDIX E:   FURTHER HELP...............................................................................................36

Page 70



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
3

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is committed to protecting the health, safety and welfare at work 

of all its employees.  The Council recognises that workplace stress is a health and safety issue and 

acknowledges the importance of identifying and reducing workplace stressors.

This policy sets out how the Council will go about managing work related stress.  It incorporates the 

‘management standards’ approach developed by the Health and Safety Executive and applies to 

everybody employed by the Council.

Managers at all levels are responsible for its implementation.  This includes school Headteachers.

2.0 DEFINITION OF STRESS

The Health and Safety Executive define stress as “the adverse reaction people have to excessive 

pressure or other types of demand placed on them”. This makes an important distinction between 

pressure, which can be a positive state if managed correctly, and stress which can be detrimental to 

health.

3.0 WHY WORKPLACE STRESS IS A PROBLEM

While some workplace stress is normal, excessive stress can interfere with productivity and performance 

as well as negatively impact the physical and emotional health of employees.  High levels of stress in the 

workplace can lead to:

 poor decision making;

 an increase in mistakes;

 increased sickness and absence;

 high staff turnover;

 poor employee / employer relations.

Page 71



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
4

4.0 POLICY STATEMENT

a) The Council will consider the issue of workplace stress and identify any workplace stressors 

when conducting risk assessments, so that it may eliminate or otherwise control the risks arising 

from work related stress.

b) The Council will provide training for all managers and supervisory staff in good management 

practices.

c) The Council will consult with trade union and employee appointed safety representatives on all 

proposed action relating to the management of workplace stress.

d) The Council will periodically conduct work related stress surveys in order to identify Council 

departments or sections where stress may be a concern.

e) The Council will offer confidential counselling for staff affected by stress caused either by work or 

by external factors.

5.0 LEGAL POSITION

5.1 Employer’s general duty

Under the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974, the Council has a general duty to ensure, so far as is 

reasonably practicable, the health, safety and welfare at work of all its employees.  This includes 

managing the risks associated with workplace stress.

5.2 Disability Discrimination

Under the Disability Discrimination Act 2005, the Council has a duty not to discriminate against 

employees on account of their disability as defined in the Act.  This can involve making reasonable 

adjustments to the workplace or to the way that work is done, for example, if existing working 

arrangements place the disabled person at a substantial disadvantage.

Long-term ill-health arising from, or exacerbated by workplace stressors, may constitute a disability 

under the Disability Discrimination Act.

Page 72



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
5

6.0 ROLES & RESPONSIBILITIES

6.1 Councillors

a) Maintain an ongoing commitment to reducing the risks associated with work related stress by 

ensuring the Council complies with this policy.

b) Ensure that work related stress matters brought before them receive appropriate attention.

c) Ensure that sufficient resources are identified and made available for workplace stress related 

issues.

6.2 Managers and Supervisors (all levels)

a) Conduct risk assessments and implement recommendations within their areas of 

jurisdiction.  The online system ‘Assess Net’ should be used for this purpose.

b) Ensure that workloads are controlled and realistic and do not conflict with other demands.

c) Ensure that job roles are clear and unambiguous.

d) Communicate clearly to their teams exactly what is expected of them, and how their work 

fits in to the Council’s overall vision.

e) Match employee’s abilities to appropriate work tasks.

f) Ensure staff are fully trained to do their job properly.

g) Ensure procedures are in place to prevent bullying, harassment and discrimination.

h) Monitor sickness absence levels and patterns with a view to identifying when workplace 

stress is a causative factor.

i) Scrutinise work performance for signs of lower output or poorer quality.

j) Ensure work conditions and job design are appropriate and that they reduce rather than 

exacerbate workplace stress levels.

k) Analyse their own management style and the effect it has on employees within their 

department.

l) Encourage a team approach to working.

m) Ensure good communication between management and staff, particularly when there are 

organisational and procedural changes taking place.

n) Ensure staff are provided with meaningful developmental opportunities.

o) Monitor working hours and overtime to ensure that staff are not overworking.

p) Monitor holidays to ensure that staff are taking their full entitlement.

q) Attend training as required in good management practice and health and safety.

r) Be vigilant and offer additional support to a member of staff who is experiencing stress, 

whether inside or outside of work.

Page 73



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
6

6.3 Health & Safety Staff

a) Provide specialist advice and information on stress.

b) Support managers with undertaking risk assessments.

c) Support individuals who have been off sick with stress and advise them and their management 

on a planned return to work.

d) Refer to workplace counsellors or specialist agencies as required.

e) Monitor and review the effectiveness of measures to reduce stress.

f) Inform Council of any changes and developments in the area of work related stress.

6.4 Human Resources Staff

a) Give guidance to managers on the implementation of this policy.

b) Help monitor the effectiveness of measures to address stress by collating sickness absence 

statistics.

c) Advise managers and other individuals on their relevant training requirements.

d) Provide continuing support to managers and individuals in a changing environment and, where 

appropriate, encourage referrals to the Council’s Occupational Health service.

6.5 Employees

a) Report any signs or symptoms of stress to their supervisor / line manager.

b) Accept opportunities for counselling when recommended.

c) Attend and participate in any training offered on recognising and dealing with stress at work.

d) All employees are to deal professionally with clients and work colleagues in order to foster dignity 

and respect at work.

6.6 Safety Representatives

a) Safety Representatives must be meaningfully consulted on changes to work practices or work 

design that may give rise to an increase in workplace stressors.

b) Safety Representatives must be able to consult with their members on the issue of workplace 

stress, including conducting any workplace surveys.

c) Safety Representatives must be meaningfully involved in the risk assessment process.

Page 74



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
7

Appendices

Page 75



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
8

Appendix A:   Common workplace stress factors

Answering ‘yes’ to any of the following questions may indicate that the role includes work-related 

stressors.

1. Does the department or team offer a service?

 Does the role involve dealing with ‘customers’ or ‘service users’?

 Do relatives/ family members of those customers have direct access to employees?

 Does third-party violence, or the threat thereof, present a problem to employees?

 Do employees deal with complaints as a large percentage of their role?

 Is the work reactive, ie does workload depend on customers and their individual issues?

2. Is the work reactive, ie does workload depend on customers and their individual issues?

3. Are employees issued mobile equipment that makes them contactable out of normal working 

hours?

4. Do customers (think they) have a right to the service, benefit or product?

 Will customers be worse off if they do not receive the service?

 Are you imposing the service on customers?

 Does this limit the customer’s freedom of action in some way?

 Is the employee’s intervention unwelcome?

5. Are changes imposed on the work of the employee by outside regional or national bodies or 

authorities?

Page 76



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
9

6. Is the department, team or service subject to periodic external scrutiny or inspection of 

performance?

7. Does the department, team or service have a ‘macho’ approach to stress or mental ill-health?

8. Has the department, team or service recently been subject to changes that have:

 increased the workload;

 reduced the size of the workforce but not the amount of work;

 resulted in areas being understaffed;

 changed the type or rate of work;

 changed the way in which the work is completed?

Page 77



Appendix B:   The Stress Management Standards

The HSE’s Stress Management Standards cover six key areas of work design that, if not properly 

managed, are associated with poor health, lower productivity and increased sickness absence.  In other 

words, the six management standards cover the primary sources of stress at work.

These sources are:

It is Council policy to make use of these management standards whenever risk assessments are carried 

out or control measures are being implemented.

There now follows a breakdown of the standards, including lists of relevant questions and suggested 

control measures.

1. Demands – workload, work patterns and the work environment.

2. Control – how much say the person has in the way they do
their work.

3. Support – encouragement, sponsorship and resources
provided by the organisation, line management and
colleagues.

4. Relationships – promoting positive working to avoid conflict and
deal with unacceptable behaviour.

5. Role – whether people understand their role within the
organisation and whether the organisation ensures that they
do not have conflicting roles.

6. Change – how organisational change (large or small) is
managed and communicated within the organisation.

Page 78



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
11

1 Demands
The following guidance can be used to help allocate resources.  It is not exhaustive.  Further stages may 

be required for your team or some listed may not be relevant or could be combined into a single step.

The standard Employees indicate that they are able to cope with the demands of their jobs

What should be 
happening

 The department provides employees with adequate and achievable demands in 

relation to the agreed hours of work

 People’s skills and abilities are matched to the job demands.

 Jobs are designed to be within the capabilities of employees.

 Employees’ concerns about their work environment are addressed.

Ways to achieve the standard

Workload  Develop personal work plans to ensure staff know what their job involves.

 Hold weekly team meetings to discuss the anticipated workload for the forthcoming 

week (and to deal with any planned absences).

 Hold regular meetings with individuals to discuss their workload and any anticipated 

challenges.

 Adjust work patterns to cope with peaks and staff absences (this needs to be fair 

and agreed with employees).

 Ensure sufficient resources are available for staff to be able to do their jobs (time, 

equipment etc).

 Provide training (formal or informal) to help staff prioritise, or information on how 

they can seek help if they have conflicting priorities.

Page 79



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
12

Competency  Devise a system to keep training records up to date to ensure employees are 

competent and comfortable in undertaking the core functions of their job.

 Consider implementing personal development / training plans which require 

individuals to identify opportunities which can then be discussed with management.

 Link training to performance monitoring arrangements to ensure it is effective and 

sufficient.

Working patterns  Review working hours and shift work systems – have these been agreed with staff?

 Consider changes to start and end times to help employees to cope with pressures 

external to the Council (eg child care, poor commuting routes).

 Develop a system to notify employees of unplanned tight deadlines and any 

exceptional need to work long hours.

Physical environment 
and violence

 Ensure your risk assessments for physical hazards and risks are up to date.

 Assess the risk of physical violence and verbal abuse.  Take steps to deal with this 

in consultation with employees and others who can help, eg the police.

 Provide training to help staff deal with and defuse difficult situations, such as difficult 

phone calls or aggressive customers.

Page 80



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
13

Do:

 allow regular breaks, especially when the work is complex or emotionally demanding;

 set realistic deadlines;

 design jobs that provide stimulation and opportunities for workers to use their skills to keep 

staff motivated and interested in their work;

 attend to the physical environment – take steps to reduce unwanted distraction, disturbance, 

noise levels, vibration, dust etc where possible;

 assess the other inherent risks of the work, eg physical and verbal abuse, musculoskeletal 

disorders and take steps to deal with them;

 provide support to those less experienced or under pressure;

 if you’re a team leader, learn to say no to work if your team is already at full capacity.

Don’t:

 ask people to do tasks that they are not capable of or trained to do;

 allocate more work to a person or team unless they have the resources to cope with it;

 allow workers to ‘cope’ by working longer hours, starting earlier, finishing later, taking work home 

or working through breaks and lunch;

 contact staff by phone or email (even when they have equipment provided by the Council) 

outside of working hours or when they are on leave or otherwise ‘off duty’.

Page 81



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
14

2 Control
How much say does the person have over the way they do their work?

The standard Employees indicate that they are able to cope with the demands of their jobs

What should be 
happening

 Where possible, employees have control over their pace of work, eg have a say 

over when breaks can be taken.

 Employees are encouraged to use their skills and initiative to do their work.

 Where possible, employees are encouraged to develop new skills to help them 

undertake new and challenging pieces of work.

 Employees are encouraged to develop their skills.

 Employees are consulted over their work patterns.

Ways to achieve the 
standard

 Agree systems that enable staff to have a say over the way their work is organised 

and undertaken eg through project meetings, one-to-ones, performance reviews.

 Hold regular discussion forums during the planning stage of projects to talk about 

the anticipated output and methods of working. Provide opportunities for discussion 

and input.

 Allocate responsibility to teams rather than individuals to take projects forward:

˜˜ -  discuss and define teams at the start of a project;

˜˜ -  agree objectives and roles;

˜˜ -  agree timescales;

˜˜ -  agree the provision of managerial support, eg regular progress meetings.

 Talk about the way decisions are made – is there scope for more involvement?

 Talk about the skills people have and if they believe they are able to use these to 

good effect.

 How else would they like to use their skills?

Page 82



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
15

Do:

 allow staff some control over the pace of their work;

 allow and encourage staff to participate in decision making, especially where it affects them, 

eg decisions about the way they work;

 negotiate shift-work schedules that do not impose on staff.

Don’t:

 monitor employees’ movements in detail (including breaks);

 monitor working style, unless necessary (eg where there are child-protection needs);

 ask staff to stay late without notice.

Page 83



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
16

3 Support
Includes encouragement, sponsorship and resources provided by the Council, line management and 

colleagues.

The standard Employees indicate that they receive adequate information and support from 
their colleagues and management.

What should be 
happening

 The department implements Council policies and procedures to adequately support 

employees.

 Systems are in place to enable and encourage managers to support their staff.

 Systems are in place to enable and encourage employees to support their 

colleagues.

 Employees know what support is available and how and when to access it.

 Employees know how to access the required resources to do their job.

 Employees receive regular and constructive feedback.

Ways to achieve the 
standard

 Hold regular one-to-one and team meetings to talk about any emerging issues or 

pressures.

 Include ‘work-related stress/ emerging pressures’ as a standing item for staff  

meetings and/ or performance reviews.

 Seek examples of how people would like to, or have, received good support from 

managers or colleagues – can these be adopted across the team?

 Ask how employees would like to access managerial support, eg ‘open door’ 

policies or agreed times when managers are able to discuss emerging issues or 

pressures.

 Introduce flexibility in work schedules (where possible) to enable staff to cope with 

domestic commitments.

Page 84



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
17

 Develop training arrangements and refresher sessions to ensure training and 

competencies are up to date and appropriate for the core functions of employees’ 

jobs.

 Talk about ways the department could provide support if someone is experiencing 

problems outside work.

 Disseminate information on other areas of support (Human Resources department, 

occupational health, trained counsellors, charities).

 Offer training in basic counselling skills/ access to counsellors.

Do:

 ensure staff receive sufficient training to undertake the core functions of their job;

 provide constructive, supportive advice at annual appraisals;

 provide flexibility in work schedules, where possible;

 allow phased return to work after long-term sickness absence;

 hold regular liaison/ team meetings;

 provide opportunities for career development;

 deal sensitively with staff experiencing problems outside work.

Don’t:

 trivialise the problems of others;

 discriminate, or allow other to discriminate, against people for any reason.

Page 85



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
18

4 Relationships
Includes promoting positive working to avoid conflict and dealing with unacceptable behaviour.

The standard
Employees indicate that they are not subjected to unacceptable behaviours, 

eg bullying at work.

What should be 
happening

 The department promotes positive behaviours at work to avoid conflict and ensure 

fairness.

 Employees share information relevant to their work.

 The department follows Council policies and procedures to prevent or resolve 

unacceptable behaviour.

 Systems are in place to enable and encourage managers to deal with unacceptable 

behaviour.

 Systems are in place to enable and encourage employees to report unacceptable 

behaviour.

Ways to achieve the 
standard

 Make use of Council policies for dealing with unacceptable behaviour, grievances 

and disciplinary procedures – communicate these to staff.

 Follow Council procedures for reporting unacceptable behaviour.

 Follow Council procedures for preventing, or quickly resolving, conflict at work – 

communicate this to staff.

 Encourage good communication and provide appropriate training to aid skill 

development (eg listening skills, confidence building).

 Select or build teams which have the right blend of expertise and experience for 

new projects.

 Discuss how individuals work together and how they can build positive 

relationships.

 Identify ways to celebrate success (eg informal lunches).

Page 86



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
19

Do:

 encourage good, honest, open communication at all levels in work teams;

 provide opportunities for social interactions among workers;

 provide support for staff who work in isolation;

 create a culture where colleagues trust and encourage each other;

 agree which behaviours are unacceptable and ensure people are aware of these and how to 

report incidents.

Don’t:

 allow any bullying behaviour or harassment.

Page 87



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
20

5 Role
Do people understand their role within the Council?  Do you ensure the person does not have conflicting 

roles?

The standard Employees indicate that they understand their role and responsibilities.

What should be 
happening

 The Council / department ensures that, as far as possible, the different 

requirements it places upon employees are compatible.

 The department provides information to enable employees to understand their role 

and responsibilities.

 The department ensures that, as far as possible, the requirements it places upon 

employees are clear.

 Systems are in place to enable employees to raise concerns about any 

uncertainties or conflicts they have in their role and responsibilities.

Ways to achieve the 
standard

 Hold team meetings to enable members to clarify their role and discuss any role 

conflict.

 Display team/department targets and objectives to help clarify team and individual 

role.

 Agree specific standards of performance for jobs and individual tasks and review 

periodically.

 Introduce personal work plans which are aligned to the outputs of the team.

 Introduce or revise job descriptions to ensure the core functions and priorities are 

clear.

 Hold regular one-to-one meetings to ensure individuals are clear about their role 

and know what is planned for the coming months.

 Develop suitable induction arrangements for new staff – make sure all members of 

the team understand the role and responsibilities of the new recruit.

Page 88



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
21

Do:

 provide a clear job description and define work objectives (eg through a personal work plan);

 define work structures clearly, so that all team members know who is doing what, and why;

 give all new members of staff a thorough induction to your department;

 avoid competing demands, such as situations where it is difficult to meet the needs of the Council 

and the customer

Don’t:

 make changes to the scope of someone’s job, or their responsibilities (eg at promotion) without 

making sure that the individual knows what is required of them, and accepts it.

Page 89



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
22

6 Change
How is organisational change, large or small, managed and communicated?

The standard
Employees indicate that the Council engages them frequently when 

undergoing an organisational change.

What should be 
happening

 The Council provides employees with timely information to enable them to 

understand the reasons for proposed changes.

 The Council ensures adequate employee consultation on changes and provides 

opportunities for employees to influence proposals.

 Employees are aware of the probable impact of any changes to their jobs. If 

necessary, employees are given training to support any changes in their jobs.

Employees are aware of timetables for changes.

 Employees have access to relevant support during changes.

Ways to achieve the 
standard

 Ensure all staff are aware of why the change is happening – agree a system for 

doing this.

 Define and explain the key steps of the change.

 Ensure employee consultation and support is a key element of the programme.

 Establish a system to communicate new developments quickly.

 Agree methods of communication (eg meetings, notice boards, letters, email, 

feedback forums) and frequency (eg weekly, monthly).

Ensure staff are aware of the impact of the change on their jobs.

 Provide a system to enable staff to comment and ask questions before, during and 

after the change, eg for staff who want to raise their concerns.

 Review team and individual work plans after the change to ensure objectives are 

clear and workloads are appropriately distributed.

Page 90



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
23

Do:

 explain what the organisation wants to achieve and why it is essential that the change(s) takes 

place;

 consult staff at an early stage, and throughout the change process;

 involve staff in the planning process so that they understand how their work fits in;

 explain timescales and how changes will impact directly on them.

Don’t:

 delay communicating new developments;

 underestimate the effects of minor changes.

Page 91



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
24

Appendix C:   Competency framework for line managers

Management competencies for preventing and reducing stress at work

Management Standard Competency Examples of positive 
manager behaviour

Examples of negative 
manager behaviour

Demands Managing workload and 
resources

• bringing in additional  
resource to handle workload

• aware of team members’ 
ability

• monitoring team workload

• refusing to take on 
additional work when team is 
under pressure

• delegating work unequally 
to team

• creating unrealistic 
deadlines

• showing lack of awareness 
of how much pressure team 
is under

• asking for tasks without 
checking workload first

Demands Dealing with work 
problems

• following through problems 
on behalf of employees

• developing action plans

• breaking problems down 
into parts

• dealing rationally with 
problems

• listening but not resolving 
problems

• being indecisive about 
decisions

• not taking problems 
seriously

• assuming problems will sort 
themselves out

Demands Process planning and 
organisation

• reviewing processes to see 
if work can be improved

• asking themselves ‘could 
this be done better?’

• prioritising future workloads

• working proactively

• not using consistent 
processes

• sticking too rigidly to rules 
and procedures

• panicking about deadlines 
rather than planning

Control Empowerment • trusting employees to do 
their work

• giving employees 
responsibility

• steering employees in a 
direction rather than imposing 
direction

• managing under a 
microscope

• extending so much authority 
employees feel a lack of 
direction

• imposing ‘my way is the 
only way’

Page 92



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
25

Management Standard Competency Examples of positive 
manager behaviour

Examples of negative 
manager behaviour

Control Development • encourages staff to go on 
training courses

• provides mentoring and 
coaching

• regularly reviews 
development

• helps employees to develop 
in role

• refuses requests for training

• not providing upward 
mobility in the job

• not allowing employees to 
use their new training

Support Accessible / visible • communicating that 
employees can talk to them 
at any time

• having an open-door policy

•making time to talk to 
employees at their desks

• being constantly at 
meetings or away from their 
desk

• saying ‘don’t bother me 
now’

• not attending lunches or 
social events

Support Health and safety • making sure everyone is 
safe

• structuring risk assessments

•ensuring all health and 
safety requirements are met

• not taking health and safety 
seriously

• questioning the capability of 
an employee who has raised 
a health or safety issue

Support Feedback • praising good work

• acknowledging employees’ 
efforts

•operating a no-blame culture 
passing positive feedback 
about the team to senior 
management

• not giving credit for hitting 
deadlines

• seeing feedback as only 
‘one way’

• giving feedback that 
employees are wrong just 
because their way of working 
is different

Support Individual consideration • provides regular one-to-
ones

• flexible when employees 
need time off

•provides information on 
additional sources of support

•regularly asks ‘how are you?’

• assuming everyone is okay

• badgering employees to tell 
them what is wrong

• not giving enough notice of 
changes

•no consideration of work-life 
balance

Page 93



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
26

Management Standard Competency Examples of positive 
manager behaviour

Examples of negative 
manager behaviour

Relationships Managing conflict • listening objectively to both 
sides of the conflict

• supporting and investigating 
incidents of abuse

•dealing with conflict head on

•following up on conflicts after 
resolution

• not addressing bullying

• trying to keep the peace 
rather than sort out problems

• taking sides

•not taking employee 
complaints seriously

Relationships Expressing and managing 
own emotions

• having a positive approach

• acting calmly when under 
pressure

•walking away when feeling 
unable to control emotion

•apologising for poor 
behaviour

• passing on stress to 
employees

• acting aggressively

• losing temper with 
employees

•being unpredictable in mood

Relationships Acting with integrity • keeps employee issues 
private and confidential

• admits mistakes

• treats all employees with the 
same importance

• speaks about employees 
behind their backs

• makes promises, then 
doesn’t deliver

• makes personal issues 
public

Relationships Friendly style • willing to have a laugh and a 
joke

• socialises with team

• brings in food and drinks for 
team

• regularly has informal chats 
with employees

• criticises people in front of 
colleagues

• pulls team up for talking / 
laughing during working 
hours

• uses harsh tone of voice 
when asking for things

Role and change Communication • keeps team informed of 
what is happening in the 
organisation

• communicates clear goals 
and objectives

• explains exactly what is 
required

• keeps people in the dark

• holds meetings ‘behind 
closed doors’

• doesn’t provide timely 
communication or 
organisational change

Page 94



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
27

Management Standard Competency Examples of positive 
manager behaviour

Examples of negative 
manager behaviour

General leadership and 
management

Taking responsibility • leading from the front

• steps in to help out when 
needed

• communicating ‘the buck 
stops with me’

• deals with difficult 
customers on behalf of 
employees

• saying ‘it’s not my problem’

• blaming the team if things 
go wrong

• walking away from problems

General leadership and 
management

Knowledge of job • able to put themselves in 
employees shoes

• has enough expertise to 
give good advice

• knows what employees are 
doing

• doesn’t have the necessary 
knowledge to do the job

• doesn’t take time to learn 
about the employee’s job

General leadership and 
management

Empathy • takes an interest in 
employees’ personal lives

• aware of different 
personalities and styles of 
working within the team

• notices when a team 
member is behaving out of 
character

• insensitive to people’s 
personal issues

• refuses to believe someone 
is becoming stressed

• maintains a distance from 
employees – projects a sense 
of ‘us and them’

General leadership and 
management

Seeking advice • knows when to seek help 
from health and safety and/or 
occupational health 
specialists and is willing to do 
so

• seeks advice from other 
managers with more 
experience

• uses HR when dealing with 
a problem

• already knows best

• believes that asking for 
advice shows weakness

Page 95



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
28

Appendix D:   Stress management competency indicator tool

Use the following questionnaire to assess your behaviour

The ‘Stress management competency indicator tool’ in this appendix is designed to allow you to assess 

whether the behaviours identified as effective for preventing and reducing stress at work are part of your 

management repertoire or not. The aim is to help you to reflect upon n your own behaviour and 

management style.

The next four pages look in turn at four behavioural areas identified as being important for managers to 

prevent and reduce stress in their staff. You are asked to consider a range of specific manager 

behaviours and put a tick in the column that most closely represents your level of agreement with each 

statement. You can then use the instructions at the end of each table to calculate your score on the 

behavioural area covered by that table. (NB the term ‘team members’ is used to refer to people who 

report directly to you or who you manage.)

The assessment process allows you to use the scores from the questionnaire to assess your 

effectiveness in preventing and reducing stress in your staff. It allows you to identify whether any of the 

areas are ‘Development Needs’ for you, or whether you are ‘Reasonable’ or ‘Effective’ in each area.

Some tips and ideas on how you can use your assessment to improve your effectiveness in preventing 

and reducing stress at work are provided on page 35.  Page 36 provides a summary of the 

competencies required to prevent and reduce stress at work.

How effective are you at preventing and reducing stress
in your staff?

Page 96



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
29

AREA 1
RESPECTFUL & RESPONSIBLE:    Managing emotions and having integrity
Behaviour / Competency Strongly 

disagree Disagree Slightly 
agree Agree Strongly 

agree

Integrity

I am a good role model

I treat my team members with respect

I am honest

I do what I say I will do

I never speak about team members behind
their backs
Managing Emotions

I act calmly in pressured situations

I take a consistent approach to managing

My moods are predictable

I don’t pass on my stress to my team

I approach deadlines calmly

I welcome suggestions for improvements

Considerate Approach

I allow my team to plan their workloads

The deadlines I create are realistic

I give more positive than negative feedback

I deal with problems myself rather than relying on others

I allow my team to approach their work in their own way

I show a consideration for my team’s work life balance

Note down the total number of ticks in
each column

Now multiply each column total by the number 
indicated to calculate your column score

x 1

=

x 2

=

x 3

=

x 4

=

x 5

=

Add the column scores together and note the total 
score (maximum score is 85)

Now divide your total score by 85 and multiply by 
100

(…………/85) x 100 =

Page 97



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
30

AREA 2
MANAGING AND COMMUNICATING EXISTING AND FUTURE WORK
Behaviour / Competency Strongly 

disagree Disagree Slightly 
agree Agree Strongly 

agree

Proactive work management

I clearly communicate job objectives to my team

I develop action plans

I monitor my team’s workload on an ongoing basis

I encourage my team to review how they organise their 
work
When necessary, I stop additional work being taken on 
by my team

I work proactively

I see projects/tasks through to delivery

I review processes to see if work can be
improved

I prioritise future workloads

Problem solving

I deal rationally with problems

I follow up problems on behalf of my team

I deal with problems as soon as they arise

I am decisive when decision making

Participative / Empowering
I give employees the right level of job
responsibility
I correctly judge when to consult the team
and when to make a decision

I act as a mentor to my team

I delegate work equally

I help team members to develop in their role

I encourage participation from the whole team

I provide regular team meetings

I give the right level of direction to my
team members

Note down the total number of ticks in
each column

Now multiply each column total by the number 
indicated to calculate your column score

x 1

=

x 2

=

x 3

=

x 4

=

x 5

=

Add the column scores together and note the total 
score (maximum score is 110)

Now divide your total score by 110 and
multiply by 100

(…………/110) x 100 =

Page 98



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
31

AREA 3
MANAGING THE INDIVIDUAL WITHIN THE TEAM
Behaviour / Competency Strongly 

disagree Disagree Slightly 
agree Agree Strongly 

agree

Personally Accessible
I prefer to speak to my team personally than
use email
I provide regular opportunities for my team
to speak one to one

I return my team’s calls/emails promptly

I am available to talk to when needed

Sociable

I bring in treats for my team

I socialise with the team

I am willing to have a laugh at work

Empathetic engagement

I encourage individuals’ input in discussions

I listen when a team member asks for help

I make an effort to find out what motivates
my team members at work
I try to see things from my team members’
point of view
I take an interest in my team’s life outside
work

I regularly ask team members ‘How are you?’

I treat all team members with equal
importance
I check everyone is OK rather than just
assuming

Note down the total number of ticks in
each column

Now multiply each column total by the number 
indicated to calculate your column score

x 1

=

x 2

=

x 3

=

x 4

=

x 5

=

Add the column scores together and note the total 
score (maximum score is 75)

Now divide your total score by 75 and
multiply by 100

(…………/75) x 100 =

Page 99



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
32

The final set of behaviours/ competencies refer to how you manage difficult situations in your team such 
as bullying or employee conflicts. If you haven’t experienced situations such as these, it may not be 
useful for you to complete this section. However, please do remember to refer back to this section if the 
need to manage a difficult situation arises.

AREA 4
REASONING / MANAGING DIFFICULT SITUATIONS
Behaviour / Competency Strongly 

disagree Disagree Slightly 
agree Agree Strongly 

agree

Managing Conflict

I act as a mediator in conflict situations

I deal with squabbles in the team before
they become arguments

I deal objectively with employee conflicts

I deal with conflicts head on

I try and resolve issues rather than act to
keep the peace

Use of Organisational Resources
I seek advice from other managers when
necessary
I use HR as a resource to help deal with
problems
I seek help from occupational health when
necessary

Taking responsibility for resolving issues

I follow up team conflicts after resolution

I support employees through incidents
of abuse
I make it clear I will take ultimate responsibility
if things go wrong

I address bullying

Note down the total number of ticks in
each column

Now multiply each column total by the number 
indicated to calculate your column score

x 1

=

x 2

=

x 3

=

x 4

=

x 5

=

Add the column scores together and note the total 
score (maximum score is 60)

Now divide your total score by 60 and
multiply by 100

(…………/60) x 100 =

Page 100



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
33

OVERALL ASSESSMENT

You have now calculated a percentage score for each of the four behavioural areas (or three behavioural areas if 
you are not measuring your ability to manage difficult situations) that have been identified as important for 
preventing and reducing stress at work. In order to interpret what these scores mean, use the following guidelines:

75% or below = Development Need: This is an area in which you would benefit from some development. Please 
refer back to the questionnaire to explore which of the behaviours you could consider using more often in the 
future in order to be more effective at preventing and reducing stress in your team.

76% to 89% = Reasonable: You show a good awareness of the behaviours needed for effectively preventing and 
reducing stress in others. It may be helpful to refer back to the questionnaire to see if there are any behaviours you 
could add to your repertoire in this area to increase your effectiveness in managing stress in others.

90% and above = Effective: You demonstrate the behaviours that have been shown to be effective in preventing 
and reducing stress in your team.

Your ‘Stress management competence’ profile:
Fill in each of the right hand columns. In the effectiveness column, add ‘Development Need’, ‘Reasonable’ or 
‘Effective’ using the guidance above.

Competency Percentage Effectiveness

Area 1. Respectful and responsible: Managing emotions and having 
integrity

Area 2. Managing and communicating existing and future work

Area 3. Managing the individual within the team

Area 4. Reasoning/Managing difficult situations

Page 101



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
34

WHAT DO I DO NEXT?

In order to improve your effectiveness at preventing and reducing stress at work, we suggest the 
following steps:

1) Look for the behavioural area in which you received the lowest score and focus on this as top priority. 
If you have identified several Development Needs or areas that you would like to move into the 
‘Effective’ zone, take them one at a time – you don’t have to change everything at once!

2) Look back at the questionnaire to explore what behaviours are relevant to this area. On the following 
page is also a summary of the four behavioural areas, and outlines of the key behaviours in each. 
Identify the ones that you indicated you do least and consider what you need to do in order to show 
these behaviours more often. It may simply be a matter of being more aware of how you are behaving at 
the moment and making small shifts to add the relevant additional (or alternative) behaviours to your 
repertoire.

3) You may find it helpful to check out with your team whether they would find it helpful for you to show 
more of these particular behaviours and how that would be different from what you do at the moment. 
You could ask them to give you feedback on how you are doing.

4) If you feel that it will be difficult for you to make these behavioural changes on your own, consider 
seeking support. For example, informal coaching or support from your own manager and / or from the 
HR department might be helpful; you might find it helpful to get some formal coaching or mentoring; and 
/ or you might want to attend a training course to develop the relevant skills.

Page 102



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
35

SUMMARY

Competency Sub-competency

Integrity
Being respectful and honest to employees

Managing emotions
Behaving consistently and calmly around the team

Respectful and responsible:
Managing emotions and having integrity

Considerate approach
Being thoughtful in managing others

Proactive work management
Monitoring and reviewing existing work, allowing future 
prioritisation and planning

Problem solving
Dealing with problems promptly, rationally and 
responsibly

Managing and communicating existing and future 
work

Participative / empowering
Listening to, meeting and consulting with the team, 
providing direction, autonomy and development 
opportunities to individuals

Personally accessible
Available to talk to personally

Sociable
Relaxed approach, such as socialising and using 
humour

Managing the individual within the team

Empathetic engagement
Seeking to understand each individual in the team in 
terms of their health and satisfaction, motivation, point 
of view and life outside work

Managing conflict
Dealing with conflicts decisively, promptly and 
objectively

Use of organisational resources
Seeking advice when necessary from managers, HR 
and Occupational Health

Reasoning / managing difficult situations

Taking responsibility for resolving issues
Having a supportive and responsible approach to issues 
and incidents in the team

Page 103



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Stress Policy 2017
36

Appendix E:   Further help

 National Debt Helpline 0808 808 4000

www.nationaldebtline.co.uk

 RELATE: For relationship problems

Telephone:  0300 100 1234

www.relate.org.uk

 Samaritans: 24 hour national helpline – Call 116 123 from any phone

www.samaritans.org.uk

 Victim Support Helpline: 0808 1689 111

www.victimsupport.org.uk

 MIND Mental Health Charity 

    https://www.mind.org.uk/about-us/contact-us/ 

Page 104

http://www.nationaldebtline.co.uk/
http://www.nationaldebtline.co.uk/
http://www.nationaldebtline.co.uk/
http://www.relate.org.uk/
http://www.relate.org.uk/
http://www.relate.org.uk/
http://www.samaritans.org.uk/
http://www.samaritans.org.uk/
http://www.samaritans.org.uk/
http://www.samaritans.org.uk/
http://www.victimsupport.org.uk/
http://www.victimsupport.org.uk/
https://www.mind.org.uk/about-us/contact-us/


Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Trago Mills Megastore – Creation of a Tourist 
Information Centre

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The purpose of the report is to inform members regarding an opportunity that has 
been presented to the Council in the form of the use of a unit at the Trago Mills site 
in Merthyr Tydfil which has the potential to be used as a dedicated Tourist 
Information Centre (TIC).

1.2 The report outlines the scale of the proposed Trago Mills site which is set to be their 
first 'megastore' outside of the South West of England. Costing a staggering £40m 
the 200,000 square foot facility anticipates an annual footfall of approximately 2.5m-
3m visitors - each of which have to walk past the proposed Tourist Information 
Centre.

1.3 In terms of the actual 22 square metre unit itself the Community Regeneration 
Department will undertake a period of research to scope-out the best fit and 
aesthetic feel and look to implement new technologies which will complement the 
traditional meet and great / information service.

1.4 With anticipated visitor's figures possibly reaching 3m people the TIC is the perfect 
mechanism to showcase what Merthyr Tydfil has to offer with regards to its tourism 
infrastructure whilst showcasing key sites of interest from in and around the County 
Borough.

Date Written 28th November 2017 
Report Author Ryan Barry / Lyndsey Handley
Service Area Economic Development
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 13th December 2017

Page 105

Agenda Item 9



1.5 The report also outlines the next steps the Community Regeneration Department will 
take in order to fully develop the facility and subsequently house three staff members 
in the TIC by the beginning of April 2018.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS:

2.1 Approve an allocation of £95,000 as a growth item of the next two financial years 

2.2 Instruct the Estates Department to discuss and secure Heads of Terms with Trago 
Mills. 

2.3 Approve the recruitment of TIC Officers that will be operational based on site at the 
TRAGO TIC. 

2.4 Approve the submission of a Visit Wales Tourist Investment Support Scheme (TISS) 
application to fund the kit-out of the TIC.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1    Up until early 2015, Merthyr Tydfil had traditionally benefited from having a Tourist 
Information Centre which had a dual purpose of catering the requests visitors to the 
County Borough and directly liaising with local tourism sector businesses to obtain 
leaflets, availably or additional information for clients. Unfortunately, in January 2015, 
the Local Authority decided to close the facility as part of its efficiencies programme 
leaving the County Borough with no TIC resource.

3.2 The current repertoire of existing Trago stores comprise of sites located at both 
Liskeard and Falmouth in Cornwall and a store situated at Newton Abbot, Devon.  
Collectively, these three stores generate footfall figures of approximately 6-7m 
visitors per year with each being deemed a realistic tourist attraction in their 
respective towns.

3.3 In 2016, and after years of uncertainty the Trago company decided to progress with 
its plans of finally citing a department store in Merthyr Tydfil. In October 2016, the 
company held a 'turf cutting' ceremony at the site to commence building works which 
is anticipated to take approximately 18months to complete - opening April 2018.

3.4 The £40m, 200,000 square foot Merthyr Tydfil development will comprise of 
warehousing, internal road infrastructure and sufficient car parking with the attraction 
later adding a petrol forecourt, café, play area.

Page 106



3.5 As part of the planning application process which was submitted to the Local 
Authority prior to the build commencing Trago referenced an opportunity to site a 
dedicated Tourist Information Centre within the 'Boulevard' of the store which each of 
the anticipated 2.5m - 3m people that visit the facility will have to walk past in order 
to access the main store. 

3.6 In July 2017, Trago officially approached the Local Authority to ascertain our 
willingness to run the Tourist Information Centre at the store - rent free. However, as 
part of the opportunity the Local Authority will have to staff the facility seven days a 
week during set core hours (Monday - Friday between 10am - 4pm and between 
10am - 5pm on both Saturday and Sundays) costing the Local Authority £47,500 per 
year. 

3.7 The Community Regeneration Department were tasked with scoping out the socio-
economic impact of the opportunity and developed an 'Options Paper' which was 
presented to the Chief Executive and Chief Finance Officer in October 2017 with a 
view of sourcing additional finance to pay for the staff costs identified in Section 3.6.

3.8 Additionally, Initial discussions have also taken place with colleagues in the Estates 
Department to ensure the 'Heads of Terms' for the Tourist Information Centre are 
ratified with the facility becoming part of the Local Authority's 'Asset Management 
Plan' moving forward.    

4.0 THE TRAGO MILLS TOURIST INFORMATION CENTRE:

4.1 The actual Tourist Information Centre is approximately 22 square metres in size and 
will comprise of a reception desk, shelving units for leaflets and a range of integrated 
technological assets such as 4K TV's that show some of our creative tourism videos 
and touch screen information points where visitors can obtain information at the 
touch of a button.

4.2 With the facility anticipating to attract between 2.5m - 3m visitors annually the 
Community Regeneration Department recognise the opportunity to showcase the 
wide range of experiences that potential visitors could encounter as part of their visit 
to Merthyr Tydfil. By marketing the other attractions and areas in the County 
Borough this will undoubtedly significantly impact on the local and regional visitor 
economy and generate repeat visits to Merthyr Tydfil and beyond long-term.

4.3 In terms of staffing the facility the Tourist Information Centre requires a constantly 
manned operation covering a period of 44 hours per week (as stipulated previously 
in Section 3.6). This equates to three contracted employees working on 20 hour 
contracts with two staff scheduled to work collaboratively during peak and handover 
periods.

Page 107



4.4 With the facility benefiting from 23 dedicated coach bays the Tourist Information 
Centre staff will provide a 'meet and greet' function to the numerous coach parties 
that arrive daily. Key tourism products and complimentary guides will be plentiful on 
offer from the actual unit where visitors will also gain access to promotional offers 
and incentives to encourage them to visit our key attractions and areas of interest.

5.0 STRATEGIC MARKETING OPPORTUNITY:

5.1 Locally, the Tourist Information Centre will market localised attractions which include 
Cyfarthfa Park, Castle & Museum, BikePark Wales, Rock UK Summit Centre, 
Parkwood Outdoors Dolygaer, Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre, Parc Taf Baroged, 
Brecon Mountain Railway, Redhouse, Joseph Parry’s Cottage, Soar Theatre and 
Cyfarthfa Retail Park as well as others. 

5.2 In addition, the Tourist Information Centre staff will interact with visitors and 
encourage them to explore the wider Merthyr Tydfil area; even if other members of 
their party may wish to remain within Trago site. One such example is through a joint 
initiative which is currently being explored via the Business Improvement District 
(BID) and key partners which is looking at the premise of running a dedicated bus 
service between Trago Mills, Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre, Merthyr Tydfil Leisure 
Village, Cyfarthfa Retail Park and Cyfarthfa Park.

5.3 From a truly regional perspective there is absence of Tourist Information Centre's 
within the South East Wales. Therefore, with the Trago Mills TIC being ideally 
situated on the crossroads of the A470 and A465 there is scope to create a regional 
facility which will further market the wider destination and drive domestic and 
outbound tourism. Importantly, Visit Wales also recognise the strategic significance  
of having such a facility on the crossroads of two major transport routes.

5.4 Merthyr Tydfil College has expressed an interest in providing support in light of the 
Tourist Information Centre opportunity with Travel and Tourism students possibly 
obtaining hands on experience of working in the sector by providing a supporting role 
to the TIC staff on a periodic basis. 

5.5 With MTCBC in full control of the TIC activities, it is recommended that the three 
employed staff have additional responsibilities within their respective job descriptions 
which will help support the local tourism businesses and drive elements of the 
Destination Management Plan (Appendix 2).

Page 108



6.0 NEXT STEPS:

6.1 A detailed forward plan will be developed in order to meet the planned opening 
deadline of the second week of April 2018.

6.2 Officers from the department will undertake a phase of best practice visits to other 
Tourist Information Centre's within the region based on a number of examples given 
to the team by Visit Wales in order to gain an idea regarding feel, different uses of 
technology and centre layout. Additionally, the team will coincide the site visits with 
periods of desktop research to gain an all-round view regarding the ideal layout for 
the TIC at Trago Mills.

6.3 In terms of financing the capital kit-out of the TIC the department has already met 
with Visit Wales on two occasions to discuss the possibility to developing a Tourism 
Innovation Support Scheme (TISS) funding application with a view of securing 
around £30,000. The amount of finance available is very much dependant on the 
number of jobs that the facility will create with the Council being advised that each 
job created usually constitutes for approximately £10,000. Importantly, from past 
experience the department feel that spending £30,000 for a kit-out will be a sufficient 
amount of funding for such a project.

7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

7.1 A Capital fit out will be required designed bespoke for the unit, however, through an 
Expression of Interest process, Visit Wales are welcoming a possible £30,000 
Tourist Investment Support Scheme (TISS) funding application and this budget 
would be sufficient for a complete refurbishment and ICT kit out for the facility.

7.2 It is requested that MTCBC approve a two year revenue contribution of £95,000 to 
bring the project to fruition. Within that period, income generation schemes will be 
introduced which will hopefully enable the TIC to become self-sustaining thereafter.

7.3 Officer time, primarily via the Destination Management Coordinator,  will be required 
to lead the development of contractual agreements and leases, TIC research / 
industry 'best practice', grant funding applications, product software implementation, 
brand development and staff recruitment.

7.4 A key element within the proposal will be set around the Community Regeneration 
Department coordinating a series of meetings with internal departments to explore 
potential income generation models utilising the TIC Officers which will form part of 
their additional responsibilities. 

Page 109



8.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

8.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

ALYN OWEN 
CHIEF OFFICER COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Visit Wales TIC Options 
Paper

Merthyr Tydfil 
Destination 

Management Plan

October 2017

July 2016

Unit 5, Pentrebach

Attached as Appendix 1

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 110



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Redistribution of Ffos-y-fran Grant Funds

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 There is currently a provision in place to move any underspend from the Ffos-y-fran 
Small and Intermediate Funds into the Large Fund. 

1.2 Due to the popularity of the most recent Ffos-y-fran Intermediate Panel in September 
2017 which saw 18 organisations request a total of £71,524.79 the Community 
Regeneration Department would like to request that funds can be moved from the 
Ffos-y-fran Large Fund into the Ffos-y-fran Intermediate Fund.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 Request up to £30,000 to be moved annually into the Ffos-y-fran Intermediate Fund 
if there is a demand for this level of funding.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 An Agreement was made on the 17th September 2004 between a Consortium 
consisting of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, Miller Argent (South Wales) 
Limited and Miller Argent (Nominee No.1) Limited relating to the Ffos-y-fran 
Reclamation Scheme.

3.2 It was agreed that the Council would establish and administer a Community Fund in 
Consultation with the Consortium partners in respects of royalty payments received 
by the Council from Miller Argent base on tonnage of coal extracted from the Ffos-y-
fran site.

Date Written 21st November 2017
Report Author Alison Reddy
Service Area Community Regeneration
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 13th December 2017

Page 111

Agenda Item 10



3.3 In April 2012, Council approved a proposal to create the Ffos-y-fran Intermediate 
Fund (maximum £5,000) setting aside £50,000 per year to allocate to local 
organisations. Allocations regarding funding are decided by the Leader of the 
Council, the Leader of the Opposition and advised by the Chief Finance Officer and 
the Chief Officer for Community Regeneration.

3.4 The Ffos-y-fran Panel agreed that six-monthly reports be provided to Miller Argent 
Limited in order to advise on levels of spend and outline which local organisations 
had applied for grant funding. Miller Argent Limited then had an opportunity to further 
recommend to panel if certain organisations were not eligible to apply for future 
funding.   

3.5 As outlined in Section 3.3 potential applicants are able to apply for up to £5,000 of 
grant funding with all applications being required to support local community projects 
with an educational, environmental or leisure emphasis embedded throughout.

3.6 The Intermediate Panel currently meets bi-annually to asses grant applications with 
the most recent meeting taking place on the 26th September 2017. Eighteen 
applications were submitted totalling £71, 524.79 with only a total budget of £50,000 
to allocate. Subsequently, fourteen applications were supported to a total value of 
£40,404.79.

3.7 The next Ffos-y-fan Intermediate Panel Meeting is set for the 25th January 2018 to 
allocate the remaining budget for 2017/18 of £9,595.21, hopefully with the addition of 
a further £30,000 that is being proposed to be moved from the Ffos-y-fran Large 
Fund.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

4.1 The annual allocation of £50,000 will continue to be ear-marked and distributed over 
two bi-annual panels. However, up to £30,000 of additional finance can be 
redistributed into the Intermediate Fund from the Large Fund each financial year.

5.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

ALYN OWEN
CHIEF OFFICER COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION

Page 112



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Cold Weather Plan

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To consider the attached Cold Weather Plan (also referred to as Severe Weather 
Emergency Protocol SWEP), which outlines the Council’s proposed response 
towards rough sleepers in times of severe weather conditions, particularly cold 
weather. 

1.2 The proposed Plan is attached.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 Consider the implications of rough sleeping and the role of the Council, particularly 
during periods of severe weather.

2.2 To recommend to Council that the proposed Cold Weather Plan is adopted with 
immediate effect.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Rough sleeping in an increasing issue in Merthyr Tydfil and across the Country, 
much of it fuelled by continuation of the Welfare Reform agenda in Westminster. As 
a result the number of rough sleepers recorded during our annual count in November 
was 8 persons. 7 at the dilapidated St Tydfil’s Hospital site and 1 at the rear of shops 
in the town centre.

Date Written 30th November 2017
Report Author J Pike
Service Area Housing & Community Safety
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 13th December 2017

Page 115

Agenda Item 11



3.2 The number of rough sleepers recorded in 2016 (on the one night count) was 4, 
which equates to a 100% increase.

3.3 The Code of Guidance (2016) in respect of the Housing (Wales) Act 2016 states: 

‘In order to mitigate the worst effects of rough sleeping all Local Authorities 
should have a written cold weather plan stating their arrangements to give 
assistance in periods of cold and/or severe weather.’

3.4 So although not an explicit statutory duty, there is a clear expectation from Welsh 
Government that local authorities will adopt suitable plans.

3.5 Therefore the proposed plan aims to ensure that any verified rough sleeper, with or 
without a local connection, is found emergency temporary accommodation during 
brief periods of extreme weather, particularly when extremely low temperatures for 
extended periods  can threaten the person’s health, safety and well-being.

3.6 The trigger for enacting the plan is a Met Office Forecast of zero degrees or below, 
for a period of 3 consecutive nights. As outlined in the Welsh Government guidance.

3.7 The Housing Solutions Team Leader (or other relevant senior officer in her absence) 
is tasked with deciding when to trigger the enacting the Cold Weather Plan.

4.0 POTENTIAL ISSUES

4.1 Whilst every effort shall be made to secure emergency accommodation for rough 
sleepers when the plan is triggered, this will inevitably depend upon vacancies in the 
Winter Night Shelter and local Bed and Breakfasts (which we currently have working 
relationships with). The proprietors of private B&B’s can of course refuse to 
accommodate a rough sleeper, should they wish.

4.2 An additional consideration is that some rough sleepers may present with certain risk 
factors. Therefore a risk assessment will be undertaken with each rough sleeper 
presenting to the Council, after the plan is triggered. Any person considered too high 
risk to be provided with emergency temporary accommodation, will unfortunately not 
be accommodated. Instead a rough sleeping information leaflet will be provided.

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1 In a period of extended very cold weather, the Council can expect some take-up. 
Costs to be incurred will be in the region of £50 per night. The total cost per annum 
cannot be estimated with any accuracy as it is ultimately dependant on the weather, 
the number of rough sleepers at that time; and whether the Winter Night Shelter is 
running and has vacancies (typically from first week of January for 10 -12 weeks). 
The Winter Night Shelter secured by the Council but run and managed by volunteers 
does not cost the Council a fee per night per person.

Page 116



6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

ALYN OWEN
CHIEF OFFICER – COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION

CLLR GERAINT THOMAS
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION & PUBLIC 
PROTECTION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location
Cold Weather Plan Nov 2017 attached

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

NO

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Cold Weather Plan for Rough Sleepers

Page 119



2

CONTENTS

Page
1 Scope & Purpose 3
2 What is Cold Weather or Severe Weather? 3
3 What accommodation will be provided? 3
4 Who will be accommodated? 4
5 Working with Partners 4
6 Reduction in exclusions from supported accommodation in cold weather 4
7 Procedure 5
8 Monitoring 5

Appendix 1 – Risk Assessment

Page 120



3

1. Scope and Purpose

A rough sleeper is defined by Welsh Government as:

“People who are sleeping or bedded down in the open air; people in buildings or other places 
not designed for habitation”

This definition will include people sleeping on the streets, in doorways, in parks, in bus shelters or 
buildings not designed for habitation, such as barns, sheds, car parks, derelict boats, stations, squats, 
tents or makeshift shelters.

The Welsh Government’s Ten Year Homelessness Plan for Wales 2009-2019 sets a goal to end rough 
sleeping in Wales. Further duties are placed on Local Authorities under s.51 Housing (Wales) Act 
2014 to review the homelessness services currently in place to prevent and/or relieve an individual’s 
homelessness. The Welsh Code of Guidance states as part of this, that Local Authorities should have 
a cold weather plan in order to mitigate the worse effects of rough sleeping. The plan should outline 
the arrangements to give rough sleepers assistance in periods of cold and/or severe weather.  The 
local authority has a statutory duty to provide assistance during cold weather. Only in exceptional 
circumstances will this Protocol be enacted for severe weather events (other than cold) as 
determined by the Housing & Community Safety Manager, or other senior officer of the Council.

2. What is Cold Weather or Severe Weather?

The trigger for cold weather provision is a weather forecast predicting three consecutive nights, or 
more, of a temperature of 0°C or lower. The temperature prediction will be taken from the Met 
Office official forecast, see www.metoffice.gov.uk. No other website or forecast shall trigger the 
enactment of this cold weather plan. The weather forecast will be routinely monitored by the 
Housing Solutions Team between 1st October and 30th April each year.

Severe weather can include (but not limited to) very high winds, prolonged heavy rain which may 
lead to localised flooding and landslides. This is especially problematic for any person rough sleeping 
under bridges, on river banks or near culverts. 

3. What accommodation will be provided

During the coldest months, MTCBC works with local volunteers and groups to operate a Winter 
Night Shelter (WNS). The WNS can operate out of any building deemed suitable for this purpose, and 
may not be the same premises year on year. The WNS typically accommodates up to 10 guests per 
night and offers a bed for the evening and hot food and drinks.

The WNS will be used in the first instance (during the open period), to discharge the accommodation 
duty of this plan, subject to available bed spaces.

For periods when the WNS is not open Housing Solutions Officers will seek to accommodate rough 
sleepers in the local hostels (subject to availability). This placement may be extended past the severe 
weather period subject to the completion of a homelessness assessment, where appropriate (for 
instance where a homeless duty is owed to provide temporary accommodation under s.68). 

Page 121

http://www.metoffice.gov.uk/


4

Where both hostels are full and the WNS is either not open or has no vacancies, a local B&B will be 
used to accommodate the individual.

4. Who will be accommodated?

Any individual who meets the definition of a rough sleeper and has no other accommodation 
available to them which is reasonable for them to occupy.

All individuals will be subject to a Risk Assessment – see Appendix 1. 

Any individual deemed too high risk to be accommodated in any provision available, shall be issued 
with a rough sleeper assistance leaflet which outlines local voluntary and third sector services 
available to those individuals sleeping rough in the Borough.

If the rough sleeper/individual unreasonably declines the offer of emergency accommodation, they 
will be issued with the aforementioned leaflet. No additional offer will be made. 

Any individual provided with emergency accommodation will be strongly encouraged and supported 
to undertake a Housing Solutions Consultation - to explore and address the reasons for their 
homelessness and where appropriate undertake a full homelessness assessment. 

5. Working with Partners

The local authority shall work closely with all commissioned partner agencies, volunteers and local 
groups to identify and support individuals who find themselves sleeping rough during the coldest 
months. Partners will be informed of this Cold Weather Plan and will be encouraged to refer any 
rough sleepers known to them, to the Housing Solutions Team for appropriate advice, support and 
an assessment – as a pre cursor to accessing emergency accommodation. 

6. Reduction in exclusions from supported accommodation during cold weather

From time to time it will be necessary to prevent or restrict access to accommodation and services 
on health and safety grounds to protect residents and staff alike. During the cold weather period 
providers are encouraged to make every effort to avoid evictions and exclusions from services and 
provision for less serious matters (such as rent arrears and low level rule breaking). Enhanced efforts 
should be made to engage with the individual and in the case of rent arrears, make a repayment 
plan.

Page 122



5

7. Procedure

 The Housing Solutions Team routinely monitor the weather conditions as forecast by the 
Met Office. The process of providing accommodation to be triggered no later than midday – 
by the Housing Solutions Team Leader (or some other nominated senior officer – where 
appropriate).

 Emergency Planning Colleagues shall forward any alerts of Severe Cold Weather or other 
Severe Weather Events to the Housing Solutions Team for consideration and information.

 When a rough sleeper is identified by a member of the public, support worker, self-reported, 
a Council officer (or by any other means), the individual will be required to attend the Civic 
Centre to meet with a Housing Solutions Officer. During this meeting a risk assessment 
(appendix 1) will be completed along with cross reference checks with the Community 
Safety Team to assess if there are any Police markers or serious offences recorded for the 
individual. A homelessness assessment is also to be completed if necessary and appropriate.

 Rough Sleeper to be booked into suitable accommodation (subject to availability): into the 
following in priority order:
o Winter Night Shelter;
o Hostel bed (Chaplains or Garth Villas)
o Bed & Breakfast 

 Placements will only be paid for and hence supported for those days where the temperature 
is expected to remain at or below 0c overnight. Once the forecast predicts a rise in evening 
temperature (above 0c), emergency accommodation shall no longer be provided.

 Where emergency accommodation is ended, the Housing Solutions Team will aim to work 
with the rough sleeper to find an alternative solutions to returning to the streets.

 Due to the explicit requirement to risks assess individuals - it is not possible to provide out of 
hours placements, other than in the most exceptional of circumstances.

 If no vacancies available in any of the options at the local authority’s disposal or if the 
individual is deemed to be too high risk to be accommodated, no accommodation shall be 
offered and the individual will be issued with the rough sleeper assistance leaflet. 

8. Monitoring

Monitoring of this Plan will take place organically, as it is implemented each year. Additionally it shall 
be reviewed annually in the spring of each year to assess the effectiveness of emergency provision 
during the cold weather period and the severe weather monitoring. These reviews will be 
undertaken by relevant senior officers and our partners. Suggestions for improvement and 
amendments to the policy will be considered at these reviews. 

Page 123



6

Appendix 1 – RISK ASSESSMENT

Client Name: …………………………………………………………………………………………………

D.OB: ………………………………… LMT Ref: ……………………………… Contact Number: …………………………………..

Risk category Level of Risk to 
Staff

Level of Risk to 
Self

Level of risk to 
others

Past or Current 
Accommodation
Mental Health

Engaging with Support 
Services

Personal Safety
Known associates

Physical Health
Relationships

Substance Abuse

Risk levels Score
No Concerns at all, no risk identified 0
Mild concerns 1
Medium concerns 2
High concerns 3
Extreme concerns 4

Score Summary text/action
6-10 Accept referral
11-15 Consider the support needs and staffing 

issues before making a decision
16-19 Discuss with colleagues or / and Team Leader. 

Give consideration support and staffing issues
20 or above Discuss with Team Leader before making 

decision
Extreme concerns on any risk category Where a referral scores 4 for any question, 

discuss with Team Leader before making a 
decision

If a score placed above please provide details on each category this is to cover:

Page 124



7

 What is the nature of the risk
 Who are the likely victims
 Why, what are the likely triggers
 Where is the risk posed
 When, how imminent is the risk likely to be.

Past or current accommodation

Mental Health

Engaging with support services

Personal Safety

Page 125



8

Known Associates

Physical Health

Relationships

Substance Abuse

Page 126



9

Completed by: …………………………………………………………….

Signature: ……………………………………………………………………

Date completed: ……………………………………. Length of involvement with client: ……………………………………

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Post-16 Home to School Transport

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report proposes changes to the current post-16 Home to School Transport 
service. The service is discretionary, and making changes will allow savings to be 
made.  This report seeks approval to consult on options to change the service.  

1.2 A business case (appendix 1) has been developed that appraises five options:

1.2.1 Option 1 – The service remains as is.

1.2.2 Option 2 – Provide free post-16 transport only to The College Merthyr 
Tydfil or to the schools that are the nearest suitable that still provide 
post-16 education.

1.2.3 Option 3 – Provide free post-16 transport only to The College Merthyr 
Tydfil, Welsh school and Faith school.

1.2.4 Option 4 – Provide post-16 transport at a cost that makes it cost 
recovering.

1.2.5 Option 5 - Remove service

1.3 The consultation process will ensure that the community has access to the 
information about all of the possible options before any decision is made. It will also 
give the community the opportunity to suggest alternatives if they have any.

1.4 There are no financial implications within this report.

Date Written 23rd November 2017
Report Author Sue Walker & Alyn Owen 
Service Area Learning & Transport 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 13th December 2017

Page 129

Agenda Item 12



 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that:

2.1 In noting and debating the content of this report, Council approve the start of a 
public consultation exercise regarding options for the provision of post-16 Home to 
School Transport. 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Following the review of post-16 Home to School Transport it has become apparent 
that the Council is providing transport for students to attend courses over and above 
the statutory duty. The Council also provides transport for pupils to attend schools 
and colleges out of the Borough. This report puts forward options for the post-16 
transport to become efficient and effective and also working with The College 
Merthyr Tydfil to provide the courses that the current students are attending out of 
the Borough if this is possible. 

3.2 To be able to gather the views of service users and the wider public, we would like 
to consult on the options in this report and indeed gather additional views should 
they arise.

3.3 The Home to School Transport Policy section 8 sets out the provision of post-16 
home to school transport for 2017/18 and states that all students aged 16, 17 or 18 
years on September 1st, who are attending a first course of full time study at a 
college/school, may be entitled to free travel if they are required to travel at least 
three miles in each direction (providing the student is attending the nearest 
appropriate post-16 provider).

3.4 The service is discretionary. There is no statutory duty to provide free home to 
school transport to any post-16 students continuing their studies in mainstream, 
further education or training – whether that be within or outside the Borough.

3.5 The Council currently provides a free post-16 Home to School Transport service, 
which is run by the Transport section.

3.6 As mentioned above in paragraph 3.1 the Council provides transport to a number of 
Schools and Colleges for pupils to attend their courses. There are six colleges and 
six schools to which pupils from Merthyr Tydfil are transported to, these are listed 
below:

3.6.1 The colleges are:
*The College Merthyr Tydfil, 
*Coleg Morgannwg (campuses in Aberdare, Rhondda and Pontypridd)
*Bridgend College
*University of South Wales Art, Design and Technology College
*Pencoed College
*Ystrad Mynach College

3.6.2 The schools are:
* Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun (Welsh Medium)
* Lewis Boys School
* Lewis Girls School

Page 130



 

* Ysgol Gyfun Cwm Rhymni
* St Johns Baptist Church in Wales High School (Faith)
* Cardinal Newman R.C. School (Faith)

3.7 We currently provide free post-16 travel within the Borough to The College Merthyr 
Tydfil, the other establishments are outside the Borough. The transport provided to 
the Colleges is for post-16 learners only, and for transport provided to schools the 
post-16 pupils travel amongst mainstream pupils.

3.8 In reviewing the current service delivery, various options have been considered, 
including streamlining the service to make it a more financially efficient service that 
can be sustainable in the future, remaining as is and ceasing the service.  These 
are detailed in section 5 below.  

4.0 RATIONALE

4.1 The reviewing of post-16 transport arose as part of the budget review exercise set 
out through Corporate Management Team (CMT) away days. CMT working with 
service area managers and staff were able to review their services and budget 
heads to identify any areas where revenue savings can be realised. It became 
apparent that post-16 transport could be one of these areas. Following discussions 
it was realised that the Council provides post-16 transport over and above the 
guidelines. As the service is discretionary there is the option cease provision of the 
service, as is explained below in section 5. 

4.2 There are 5 options listed in section 1 and explained further in section 5. Each 
option is viable and has differing revenue savings attributed to them. However 
officers would like to engage with service users and the wider public regarding 
opinions.

4.3 Using the agreed Operating Model Design of the Council and the Wellbeing of 
Future Generation (WFG) Act 5 ways of working (i.e. moving long term, 
preventative and integrated ways of working whilst involving and collaborating 
appropriately to do so) it is proposed to progress possible options for changing 
post-16 Home to School Transport provision by going out to public consultation in 
January 2018. 

4.4 The consultation process will ensure that the community has access to the 
information about all of the possible options before any decision is made. It will also 
give the community the opportunity to ask questions and suggest alternatives.

4.5 The consultation will be held at key locations involved in the options e.g. The 
College Merthyr Tydfil. The consultation will be done by face to face and via digital 
interactions. This will be done over a 12 week period (not including school holidays) 
starting in January 2018.

4.6 It is proposed that the feedback from the public consultation exercise is presented 
to Council in June 2018. Following Council decision, any policy changes will occur 
in October 2018 ready for implementation in the academic year of 2019/20.

Page 131



 

5.0 OPTIONS

5.1 This section details the options with risks, potential financial savings and the 
advantages and disadvantages. Appendix 1 describes how the options relate to the 
Wellbeing of Future Generations Act, including the Council Wellbeing Objectives.

5.2 Option 1 – Remain as is

This option assumes that the current arrangements remain, that there are no 
changes to current provision. 

5.2.1 There will be no revenue savings with this option as there will be no change to the 
service. Spend could increase if contracts are retendered.

5.2.2 The two highest risks that have been identified to implement this option are: the 
Council fails to achieve the revenue savings required: travel costs could escalate. 
To mitigate these risks it is advantageous to implement options 2,3,4 or 5.

5.3 Option 2 - (Streamline service)

Provide free post-16 transport only to The College Merthyr Tydfil or to the schools 
that are the nearest suitable and who still provide post-16 education. 

Advantages Disadvantages
* There will be no immediate change to the 
service that we currently provide.

* Bus operators will continue with 
contracts so no impact on local 
businesses.

* The Council will fail to achieve any short term or 
long term financial savings putting other services 
at risk.

* The cost of running the service in the future is 
likely to increase due to operators/travel fare 
increases.

* We will fail to support our own educational 
establishments.

Page 132



 

5.3.1 The revenue savings in option 2 will be approximately £78,116.93 per year. This 
saving will be made by ceasing the transport to Ystrad Mynach College, Pencoed 
College, and Coleg Morgannwg campuses in Aberdare and Pontypridd

5.3.2 The three highest risks that have been identified by implementing this option are: 
the Council fails to achieve the revenue savings required: travel costs could 
escalate: potential negative impact on the Council’s reputation. However substantial 
revenue savings are made. To mitigate these risks all options can go to public 
consultation and a communication plan developed and implemented with alternative 
provision provided within Merthyr Tydfil.

Advantages Disadvantages
* The College Merthyr Tydfil will be 
identified as our main post-16 provider 
and it will be promoted as such.

* Keeps Merthyr Tydfil residents studying 
within the Borough to benefit our 
Education service. Currently we are 
paying for students to study out of 
Borough.

* Free transport will continue to the 
nearest Welsh provider which positively 
promotes Welsh medium education and 
is in accordance with the Education Act.

* Free transport will continue to the 
nearest Faith provider.

* Would achieve some revenue savings.

* The service will be more sustainable in 
the future.

* Fail to achieve long term revenue savings.

* No across the board fairness - Council could 
be seen as favouring Welsh and Faith students 
over other students who wish to attend 
elsewhere.

* Potential impact on coach operators with the 
loss of some post-16 contracts.

* Possibly negative feedback from parents and 
schools.

* Restricted choice for learners.

* Could impact on the number of students 
continuing in post-16 education.

* Potential impact on pupils not in Education, 
Employment or Training (NEET's).

* The cost of running the service in the future is 
likely to increase due to operators/travel fare 
increases.

Page 133



 

5.4 Option 3 - Option 3 (Streamline service)

Provide free post-16 transport only to The College Merthyr Tydfil, Welsh school and 
Faith school.

5.4.1 The revenue savings with option 3 will be approximately £78,116.93 per year. Any 
additional savings made from removing post-16 students from mainstream travel 
will be offset by the additional transport required to transport the pupils to The 
College Merthyr Tydfil instead.

5.4.2 The three highest risks that have been identified by implementing this option are: 
the council fails to achieve the revenue savings required: travel costs could 
escalate; the potential negative impact on the Council’s reputation. However 
substantial revenue savings are made. To mitigate these risks all options can go to 
public consultation and a communication plan developed and implemented with 
alternative provision provided within Merthyr Tydfil.

Advantages Disadvantages
* The College Merthyr Tydfil will be 
identified as our main post-16 provider 
and it will be promoted as such.

* Keeps Merthyr Tydfil residents studying 
within the Borough to benefit our 
Education service. Currently we are 
paying for students to study in other 
boroughs.

* Free transport will continue to the 
nearest Welsh provider which positively 
promotes Welsh medium education and 
is in accordance with the Education Act 
1996.

* Free transport will continue to the 
nearest Faith provider.

* Would achieve some savings.

* The service will be more sustainable in 
the future.

* Fail to achieve long term revenue savings.

* No ‘across the board’ fairness - Council could 
be seen as favouring Welsh and Faith students 
over other students who wish to attend 
elsewhere.

* Potential impact on coach operators with the 
loss of some post-16 contracts.

* Likely negative feedback from parents and 
schools.

* Restricted choice for learners.

* Could impact on the number of students 
continuing in post-16 education.
 
* Potential impact on pupils not in Education, 
Employment or Training (NEET's).

* The cost of running the service in the future is 
likely to increase due to operators/travel fare 
increases.

Page 134



 

5.5 Option 4 - (Cost recovery service)

Provide post-16 transport at a cost to pupils which will make the service cost 
recovering.

5.5.1 The revenue savings with option 4 will be approximately £189,751.44 per year – the 
savings identified with this option are attributable to pupils paying for the service 
therefore there will be no cost to the Council.

5.5.2 The three highest risks that have been identified with implementing this option are: 
parents fail to pay the charge for the transport; potential negative impact on the 
Council’s reputation; travel costs could escalate. However substantial revenue is 
made. To mitigate these risks all options can go to public consultation and a 
communication plan developed and implemented with alternative provision provided 
within Merthyr Tydfil.

Advantages Disadvantages
* This option will achieve long term 
savings.

* Pupils can continue to be educated in 
the school/college of their choice.

* The service could be more sustainable 
in the future.

* Some pupils are put at a disadvantage if they 
cannot afford the fees.

* Would require an intensive administrative 
function to coordinate, manage the payments 
and recover any arrears.

* Previous attempt at cost recovery led to non-
payments, debt recovery and write off of Council 
debts.

* Could impact on the number of students 
continuing in post-16 education. 

* Potential impact on pupils not in Education, 
Employment or Training (NEET's).

* Likely negative feedback from parents and 
schools.

* The cost of running the service in the future is 
likely to increase due to operators/travel fare 
increases.

Page 135



 

5.6 Option 5 – Remove the service

There will be no free post-16 transport service provided.

5.6.1 The revenue savings with option 5 will be approximately £178,751.44 per year. 
Additional savings will be made from removing post-16 students from mainstream 
travel and the remaining travel reconfigured (difficult to identify exact saving at this 
time). To mitigate these risks all options can go to public consultation and a 
communication plan developed and implemented (with alternative provision 
provided within Merthyr Tydfil).

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

6.1 There are no financial implications concerned with this report. 

6.2 Each option has its own savings profile as detailed in section 5 above.

6.3 In academic year 2018/19 we are unlikely to see any savings as any changes made 
to the policy in 2018 cannot be implemented until acadmic year 2019/20. However 
some savings can be made  in 2018/19 by issuing train passes to the 8 students 
currently travelling to Nantgarw rather than putting on a bus.  Savings will be 
partical year savings for 2018/19 as changes apply to September 2018 – March 
2019.  It is impractical to switch to train passes for the other students due to the 
location of the college they are attending.  
 

7.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report. The outcomes are summarised below. The form can be accessed on the 
Council’s website/intranet via ‘Equality Impact Assessment’ link.

7.2 For option 1 it has been deemed that there will be neutral impact on all of the 11 
protected characteristics as there will be no change to the service. 

7.3 For option 2, it has been deemed that there will be a neutral impact on 8 of the 
protected characteristics.  There could be negative impact on the Age characteristic 
as some post-16 courses pupils wish to attend will not be provided by The College 
Merthyr Tydfil and therefore pupils will not be entitled to post-16 transport. Taking 
this in to consideration, the Local Education Authority and The College Merthyr 
Tydfil look to work together to establish learner requirements so better course 

Advantages Disadvantages
* Will achieve long term savings.

* The service could be more sustainable 
in the future.

* Could impact on the number of students 
continuing in post-16 education.

* Potential impact on pupils not in Education, 
Employment or Training (NEET's).

* Likely negative feedback from parents and 
schools.

* No support for Welsh or faith based education.

Page 136



 

choices can be offered. The pupils attending Faith or Welsh schools will not be 
affected as transport will be provided. The consultation exercise will aid 
understanding future options regarding this.

7.4 For option 3, it has been deemed that there will be a neutral impact on 10 of the 11 
protected characteristics including Religion and Belief characteristic as well as the 
Welsh Language characteristic as the transport to these schools will remain. There 
could be negative impact on Age as post-16 courses may not be available at The 
College Merthyr Tydfil. However discussions with The College Merthyr Tydfil in 
widening their provision is underway

7.5 For option 4, it has been deemed that there will be a neutral impact on all 11 11 
protected characteristics as the service will be provided but there will be a charge to 
each pupil to recover the cost for the service.

7.6 For option 5, it has been deemed that there is likely to be a negative impact on the 
protected characteristics of Age, Religion and Belief, and, Welsh Language. This is 
due to the service being removed in total.  A neutral impact has been assigned to 
the other 8 protected characteristics.  

.  

SUE WALKER
CHIEF OFFICER FOR LEARNING

ALYN OWEN
CHIEF OFFICER FOR REGENERATION

LISA MYTTON
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING

GERAINT THOMAS
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Equality Impact 
Assessment

November 2017 Business Change Team

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 137



 

APPENDIX 1- Post-16 Home to School Transport Business Case

Business Case – Post 16 Home to School Transport

Project Title Post-16 Home to School Transport

Date (Insert Version Date) November 2017

Lead Officer(s) Sue Walker and Alyn Owen

Service Area Learning and Transport

Purpose of the Business Case

Project Background
In the sections below, please give the reasons identified for this project to take place, addressing the 
Council's Wellbeing Objectives (Wellbeing of Future Generation Act, 2015) and what has encouraged the 
development of this business case?  Consider what approach has been taken place against the 5 Ways of 
Working e.g. - take an integrated approach when setting and taking steps to meet our Wellbeing Objectives; 
work with others in a collaborative way to find shared sustainable solutions; involve people in the decisions 
that affect them, reflecting the diversity of our communities.  Please build on Project Concept.

The purpose of this project is to outline & appraise proposed changes to the post-16 home to 
school transport service. This business case aims to explore potential alternatives to the current 
way the service is delivered.

The post-16 home to school transport service, is run by the Transport section. The current policy 
for the provision of home to school transport 2017/18 states that all students aged 16, 17 or 18 
years on September 1st, who are attending a first course of full time study at a college/school, 
may be entitled to free travel if they are required to travel at least three miles in each direction 
providing the student is attending the nearest appropriate post-16 provider.

The provision of post-16 transport is funded out of core grant funding. As of the 06/10/2017 the 
cost of sole post-16 transport was £178,751.44 for 155 post-16 pupils. 
The Council also transport post-16 pupils amongst mainstream students at a cost of £78,116.93 
for 143 pupils. This cost is worked out as the cost for each post-16 pupil and is not the full cost of 
running the mainstream service.

There are 6 Colleges we currently provide free post-16 travel to:
* The College, Merthyr Tydfil
* Coleg Morgannwg (campuses in Aberdare, Rhondda and Pontypridd)
* Bridgend College
* University of South Wales Art, Design and Technology College
* Pencoed College
* Ystrad Mynach College

There are 6 Schools we currently provide free post-16 travel to (amongst mainstream pupils):
* Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun (Welsh Medium)

Page 138



 

* Lewis Boys School
* Lewis Girls School
* Ysgol Gyfun Cwm Rhymni
* St Johns Baptist Church in Wales High School (Faith)
* Cardinal Newman School 

Business Need / Case for Change

Post-16 home to school transport is a discretionary service however the Council does have a duty 
to consider access to education for all learners. The Council's transport policy currently states we 
will provide transport for post-16 learners subject to the proviso they attend their nearest course 
provider and that the provider is over 3 miles from home. However there is no statutory duty to 
provide free transport to any post-16 students continuing their studies in mainstream, further 
education or training - whether that be within or outside the Borough. Plus providing free transport 
for post-16 learners to attend a specific provision (i.e. Welsh or Faith education) is also 
discretionary.

Relevant legislation in the Learner Travel (Wales) Measure 2008 states that Authorities only have 
to assess the travel needs of post-16 learners and determine if there are adequate travel 
arrangements (bus or train services, bicycle and walking routes) available for students to gain 
access to education.

Coach operator contracts

Current coach operator contracts are up for renewal in July 2018. Operators have already implied 
that costs to renew contracts will increase as some operators are currently running at a loss. 
Therefore the cost to run the service is expected to increase further for the next academic year.

Cost Recovery

An option to make the service cost recovering has been explored (see options section). The 
charges each pupil would need to make can be found in the finance section. These charges range 
from £540 to £3,878 per pupil per year. To run a cost recovering service, it should be noted that it 
would require an intensive administrative function to coordinate and manage the payments.
A risk with running this type of service is non-payment. It would require a large amount of 
administrative work to try to recover arrears and in most cases may not result in successfully 
retrieving the money.
In 2012/13 a payment service was run for mainstream transport. The service allowed parents to 
buy a seat if they didn't already receive free transport (as under the 2 mile threshold). It only lasted 
for one year as a large number of parents did not pay. The administrative work that was required 
was intensive. However after trying to retrieve the money, most debts just had to be written off.

Welsh medium education

As a Council, we have a legal duty to promote access to Welsh Medium education. However as 
explained above, post-16 transport is a discretionary service. 

Page 139



 

Legislation in the Learner Travel (Wales) Measure 2008 states we need to assess the travel 
needs of learners. In assessing the needs of Welsh learners, there is no Welsh secondary and 
post-16 education provider in Merthyr Tydfil and so the nearest suitable school is Ysgol Gyfun 
Rhydywaun in RCT. As we already provide transport for mainstream to Rhydywaun, post-16 has 
continued.

The Education Act 1996 - Section 354 states it is the local authority's policy that every child should 
have the opportunity to learn and use the Welsh language. Our School Admissions policy 2018/19 
names Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun as the school to continue their education after primary school.

Faith education

We currently provide post-16 transport for students to attend faith schools out of the Borough - St 
Johns Baptist Church in Wales High School (Aberdare) and Cardinal Newman RC School 
(Pontypridd). However the Council has no legal duty to provide post-16 transport for students to 
attend a faith school. 

Free post-16 transport to Cardinal Newman was an agreement after the removal of sixth form 
provision at Bishop Hedley High School. Students choose to go to St Johns because it classes 
itself as a Welsh Faith provider, however it is not currently listed in our School Admissions policy.

For all of the proposed options, changes cannot be implemented until Academic year 2019/20 and 
any savings will not be realised until April 2020. However, students approaching us for free 
transport for academic year 2018/19 can be told of any changes to policy that will be coming in 
2019/20 which may influence their choice of school/college. We expect to see a drop in pupil 
numbers wishing to attend schools/colleges where free-transport will only be available for the first 
year of their course.

Any changes to the policy will be implemented in 2019. If a student has already started their 
course, they will be offered free transport to allow them to finish their course.

There are 5 options for consideration within this business case:

* Option 1 - Remain as is
* Option 2 - Streamline service (Provide free post-16 transport only to The College Merthyr Tydfil 

or to the schools that are the nearest suitable and who still provide a sixth form).
* Option 3 - Streamline service (Provide free post-16 transport only to The College Merthyr Tydfil, 

Welsh school and Faith school)
* Option 4 - Cost Recovering service (Provide post-16 transport at a cost that makes it cost 

recovering)
*  Option 5 - Remove service

These options will be explored in more detail in the options section below.

Page 140



 

Consultation & Engagement
Involvement & Engagement
A consultation exercise is planned for this project.

Communication
A consultation exercise is planned for this project.

HR Implications
No staff would be affected by removal of post-16 transport at this time.

Corporate Fit and Project Drivers
Please indicate where the project meets our Wellbeing objectives and/or service objectives.
Wellbeing of Future Generations Act (2015)  Y

Social Services & Wellbeing  Act (2014) N

Driven by External Funding Opportunity N

Driven by Service Benefits / Resilience Y

Driven by Savings Opportunities Y

Other (please state): N/A

Options:
Provide information and data regarding the proposed service changes.  In this section please refer to the 
nine Wellbeing objectives.  

1. Option 1 – Remain as is – this option assumes that the current arrangements remain, 
there are no changes to current provision

Option 1 description

* There is no change to the existing arrangements.

Advantages

* There will be no immediate changes to the service that we currently provide.

* Bus operators will continue with contracts so no impact on local businesses.

Page 141



 

Disadvantages

* The Council will fail to achieve any short term or long term financial savings putting other 
services at risk.
* The cost of running the service in the future is likely to increase due to operators/travel 
fare increases.
* We will fail to support our own educational establishments.

2. Option 2 – (Streamline service) Provide free post-16 transport only to The College 
Merthyr Tydfil or to the schools that are the nearest suitable and who still provide a sixth 
form.

Option 2 Description

* Streamline the service so that we only provide free post-16 transport to pupils attending 
The College Merthyr Tydfil or to the schools that are the nearest suitable and who still 
provide a sixth form, with the caveat that the provider is more than 3 miles from home.
* Free transport will no longer be available for learners who wish to attend a different 
school/college.
* The current school transport policy will be changed to say:
"Where the student's current school provides sixth form, free post-16 transport will be 
provided to that school. Where the student's current school does not provide a sixth form,  
The College Merthyr Tydfil is the nominated provider and free transport will be provided to 
this college only (if over 3 miles from home)."

Advantages

* The College Merthyr Tydfil will be identified as our main post-16 provider and it will be 
promoted as such.
* Keeps Merthyr Tydfil residents studying within the Borough to benefit our Education 
service. Currently we are paying for students to study in other Boroughs.
* Free transport will continue to the nearest Welsh provider which positively promotes 
Welsh medium education and is in accordance with the Education Act.
* Free transport will continue to the nearest Faith provider.
* Would achieve some revenue savings.
* The service will be more sustainable in the future.

Disadvantages

* Fail to achieve long term revenue savings.
* No ‘across the board fairness’ - Council could be seen as favouring Welsh and Faith 
students over other students who wish to attend elsewhere.
* Potential impact on coach operators with the loss of some post-16 contracts.
* Possible negative feedback from parents and schools.
* Restricted choice for learners.
* Could impact on the number of students continuing in post-16 education.
* Potential impact on pupils not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET's).
* The cost of running the service in the future is likely to increase due to operators/travel 
fare increases.

Page 142



 

3. Option 3 – (Streamline service) Provide free post-16 transport only to The College 
Merthyr Tydfil, Welsh school and Faith school

Option 3 Description

* Streamline the service so that we only provide free post-16 transport to pupils attending 
either The College Merthyr Tydfil, Welsh school (Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun) or Faith school 
(St Johns Baptist Church in Wales or Cardinal Newman R.C). With the caveat that the 
provider is more than 3 miles from home.
* Free transport will no longer be available for learners who wish to attend a different 
school/college.

Advantages

* The College Merthyr Tydfil will be identified as our main post-16 provider and it will be 
promoted as such.
* Keeps Merthyr Tydfil residents studying within the Borough to benefit our Education 
service. Currently we are paying for students to study in other Boroughs.
* Free transport will continue to the nearest Welsh provider which positively promotes 
Welsh medium education and is in accordance with the Education Act 1996.
* Free transport will continue to the nearest Faith provider.
* Would achieve some savings.
* The service will be more sustainable in the future.

Disadvantages

* Fail to achieve long term revenue savings.
* No ‘across the board fairness’ - Council could be seen as favouring Welsh and Faith 
students over other students who wish to attend elsewhere.
* Potential impact on coach operators with the loss of some post-16 contracts.
* Likely negative feedback from parents and schools.
* Restricted choice for learners.
* Could impact on the number of students continuing in post-16 education. 
* Potential impact on pupils not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET's).
* The cost of running the service in the future is likely to increase due to operators/travel 
fare increases.

4. Option 4 – (Cost recovery service) Provide post-16 transport at a cost that makes it 
cost recovering

Option 4 Description

* Continue to run the service, but charge pupils to make it a cost recovering service.

Advantages

* This option will achieve long term savings.
* Pupils can continue to be educated in the school/college of their choice.
* The service could be more sustainable in the future.

Page 143



 

Disadvantages

* Some pupils are put at a disadvantage if they cannot afford the fees.
* Would require an intensive administrative function to coordinate, manage the payments 
and recover any arrears.
* Previous attempt at cost recovery led to non-payments, debt recovery and write off of 
Council debts.
* Could impact on the number of students continuing in post-16 education. 
* Potential impact on pupils not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET's).
* Likely negative feedback from parents and schools.
* The cost of running the service in the future is likely to increase due to operators/travel 
fare increases.

5. Option 5 – (Remove the service) 

Option 5 Description

* Remove service. Free post-16 transport will no longer be run as a service.

Advantages

* This option will achieve long term savings.

* The service could be more sustainable in the future

Disadvantages

* Could impact on the number of students continuing in post-16 education.
* Potential impact on pupils not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET's).
* Likely negative feedback from parents and schools.
* No support for Welsh or faith based education

Page 144



 

Name of Officer completing Assessment Sue Walker/Alyn Owen
Lead Officer/Project Manager: Sue Walker/Alyn Owen
Phone No:
Email:
Service: Education & Transport
Well Being of Future Generations Impact 
Assessment completion date:

Nov 2017

Please give a brief description of the aims of the proposal;

The project aims to streamline the post-16 transport we currently provide.

Before completing the Impact Assessment please refer to the corresponding guidance document which provides more 
detailed definitions for each section, provides prompts for you to consider when completing the Impact Assessment, along 
with contact details for officers who can provide further assistance and links to other documents you may find useful. 

The guidance documents also provides background information to the Act along with other legislation that needs to be 
considered when completing the Impact Assessment  

1. Does your proposal deliver any of the Local Authority’s Well Being Objectives as identified below? Please explain the 
impact (positive and negative) you expect, together with suggestions of how to mitigate negative impacts or better contribute to the 
well-being objectives. 
  

Well Being of Future Generations Act Impact Assessment
(Includes Equalities and Sustainability Impact Assessment)

P
age 145



 
Please refer to the guidance document for further information in relation to each Well Being Objective and the link to the Local 
Authority’s Well Being Statement – https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/strategies-plans-and-policies/statement-of-wellbeing/

Well Being Objective
Does the proposal contribute to this 
objective?  Describe the positive and 

negative impacts.

What actions have been/will be taken to mitigate 
any negative impacts or better contribute to 

positive impacts?

Best Start in Life 

Children get the best start to life

Children and young people are equipped with 
the skills they need to be successful learners 
and confident individuals

This project may have a negative effect on 
learners being able to access post 16 
education, to therefore have better 
employment opportunities

The engagement and consultation exercises will help to 
alleviate public concerns. Affected parties will be made 
aware of all proposals and how the changes may affect 
them

Working Life 

Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: 
Developing the workforce of the future

This project may have a negative effect on 
learners being able to access post 16 
education, to therefore have better 
employment opportunities

The engagement and consultation exercises will help to 
alleviate public concerns. Affected parties will be made 
aware of all proposals and how the changes may affect 
them

Developing the environment and 
infrastructure for business to flourish

This project may impact on local bus 
companies who currently provide the post 16 
transport due to the reduction/removal of 
contracts

Plenty of notice will be given in any reduction or ceasing 
of contracts so they can plan their business accordingly. 
Also the consultation exercises will help to alleviate any 
concerns

Environmental Well Being 

Communities protect, enhance and promote 
our natural environment and countryside

Communities protect, develop and promote 
our heritage and cultural assets

P
age 146

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/strategies-plans-and-policies/statement-of-wellbeing/


 

Well Being Objective
Does the proposal contribute to this 
objective?  Describe the positive and 

negative impacts.

What actions have been/will be taken to mitigate 
any negative impacts or better contribute to 

positive impacts?

Living Well 

Developing safer communities

People have good physical and mental health

People live independently

Source of evidence to support the above

2. How has your proposal embedded and prioritised the sustainable development principle and the five ways of 
working in its development?

Please refer to the guidance document for the full definition of the sustainable development principle and the five ways of working 
along with prompts to consider when completing this section. 

P
age 147



 

3. Are your proposals going to affect any people or groups of people with protected characteristics?  Please explain 
the impact, any action you are taking and evidence you have used. 
Please refer to the Guidance Document for the full definition for each of the protected characteristics. 

Protected Characteristics 
Describe any negative impacts and/or 

positive impacts your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic

What has been/will be done to mitigate any 
negative impacts or better contribute to 

positive impacts?

Sustainable Development 
Principle 

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met this 
principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain why.

Are there any additional actions to be 
taken to mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive impacts?

Long Term 
The proposal is still considering the different mediums of 
learning while ensuring the best service can still be delivered 
long term.

The engagement and consultation exercises will 
help to alleviate public concerns. Affected parties 
will be made aware of all proposals and how the 
changes may affect them

Prevention The proposal to streamline the service ensures the service 
can still run adequately and is more sustainable for the future.

Integration Integrating with the schools and their pupils. A better local 
provision by working with The College Merthyr Tydfil

Collaboration  

A better working relationship between the LEA and The 
College Merthyr Tydfil. Working together, we can identify the 
preferences of learners and work towards a wider range of 
courses being offered.

Involvement  
Involving Schools/Colleges, pupils and other affected parties 
of the potential change to post-16 transport.

Schools/Colleges will be in involved in the 
consultation process, and worked with to ensure 
the proposed option still meets the needs of 
pupils

Source of evidence to support the above

Consultation with the schools, parents, pupils and any other affected parties will start January 2018 and will run for 12 weeks (excluding school 
holidays). Part of the communications plan will include sending out letters to all affected parties, holding consultation sessions and promotion on 
Social Media.

P
age 148



 

Protected Characteristics 
Describe any negative impacts and/or 

positive impacts your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic

What has been/will be done to mitigate any 
negative impacts or better contribute to 

positive impacts?
Age Proposals may restrict learners aged 16-19 

accessing some post-16 courses
The LEA and The College Merthyr Tydfil to work 
together to establish learner requirements so better 
course choices can be offered. The consultation 
exercise will aid this.

Disability Neutral

Gender Reassignment Neutral

Marriage and Civil Partnership Neutral

Pregnancy and Maternity Neutral

Race Neutral

Religion or Belief Free post-16 transport to a faith provision will still 
be continuing with most proposals. However option 
to remove the service will have an effect on pupil's 
preference to be educated in a faith based 
environment.

Schools/Colleges, parents and pupils will be in 
involved in the consultation process, and worked 
with to ensure the proposed option still meets the 
needs of pupils

Sex Neutral

Sexual Orientation Neutral

Welsh Language Free post-16 transport to a Welsh provision will still 
be continuing with most proposals. However option 
to remove the service will have an effect on pupil's 
preference to be educated in the medium of Welsh

Schools/Colleges, parents and pupils will be in 
involved in the consultation process, and worked 
with to ensure the proposed option still meets the 
needs of pupils

Proceed to public consultation to determine this.

4. SUMMARY:  As a result of completing this form, what are the main positive and negative impacts of your proposal, how 
have they informed/changed the development of the proposal so far and what will you be doing in future?

P
age 149



 

For option 1 there will be neutral impacts on each of the protected characteristics as there will be no change to the service. 

For option 2, 8 of the protected characteristics will have a neutral impact, there could be negative impact on the Age characteristic as some Post-16 courses 
pupils wish to attend will not be provided by The College Merthyr Tydfil and therefore pupils will not be entitled to Post-16 transport. Taking this in to 
consideration, the Local Education Authority and The College Merthyr Tydfil look to work together to establish learner requirements so better course choices 
can be offered. The pupils attending Faith or Welsh schools will not be affected as transport will be provided. The consultation exercise will aid this.

For option 3 there will be neutral impacts on the Religion and Belief characteristic as well as the Welsh Language characteristic as the transport to these schools 
will remain. There could be negative impact on Age as Post-16 courses may not be available at The College Merthyr Tydfil. However discussions with The College 
Merthyr Tydfil in widening their provision is underway.

For option 4 there will be neutral impacts on protected characteristics as the service will be provided but there will be a charge to each pupil to recover the cost 
for the service.

For option 5 could there is likely to be a negative impact on the protected characteristics of Age, Religion and Belief, and, Welsh Language. This is due to the 
service being removed in total.

5. MONITORING: The impacts of this proposal will need to be monitored and reviewed. Please specify the date at which you 
will evaluate the impact, and where you will report the results of the review.

What arrangements are in place/ will be put in place to monitor the impact over time?  

This will be monitored throughout the consultation exercise. Monitoring of the approved option will be considered and a relevant plan put in place.

6. ACTIONS: As a result of completing this form are there any further actions you will be undertaking? Please detail them 
below, if applicable.

P
age 150



 
What are you going to do When are you going to do it? Who is responsible Progress 
Raise awareness Social Media, letters to all pupils, 

consultation sessions
Education

Liaise with The College Merthyr 
Tydfil

Throughout consultation period Education

7. VERSION CONTROL: The Future Generations Impact Assessment should be used at the earliest stages of decision 
making, and then honed and refined throughout the decision making process.  It is important to keep a record of this 
process so that we can demonstrate how we have considered and built in sustainable development wherever possible.

Version 
No.

Decision making stage Date considered Brief description of any amendments made following 
consideration

1 Business case approval – to consult. Council date: Wed 
13th December 2017

Sign off section 
Position Name Signature Date 
Chief Officer Sue Walker/Alyn Owen
Head of Service Anthony Lewis/Steve Peters
Service Manager Paul Lewis/Helen Griffiths
Portfolio Holder Lisa Mytton/Geraint Thomas

Objectives and Critical Success Factors - Post-16 Home to School Transport
The tables below identifies whether each option will meet the project objectives, critical success factors, wellbeing objectives and project outcomes.  Each 
option has then been scored to identify the number of objectives and critical success factors the option meets. The objectives and outcomes will need to be 
SMART (Specific; Measurable; Achievable; Realistic; Time-bound)

P
age 151



 
Project Objective Please state objective (SMART) 

below:
Option 1 

Remain As Is
Option 2

Streamline Service
Option 3

Streamline Service Option 4
Cost Recovery

Option5 
Remove

Project Objectie 1 To provide home to school transport 
for post-16 students whilst not 
restricting the opportunities to learn 
in the medium of Welsh or Faith

YY YY YY Y N

Project Objective 2 A more financially efficient service 
that can be sustainable in the future N Y YY Y YY

Project Objective 3 A service that is safe and legal YY YY YY YY YY

Critical Success Factors

Long term - Rational

The importance of balancing short-
term needs with the need to 
safeguard the ability to also meet 
long-term needs

N Y YY Y Y

Preventative
How acting to prevent problems 
occurring or getting worse may help 
public bodies meet their objectives

? Y Y Y ?

Integration

Considering how the public body’s 
well-being objectives may impact 
upon each of the Wellbeing goals, on 
their other objectives, or on the 
objectives of other public bodies

? ? ? ? ?

Involvement

The importance of involving people 
with an interest in achieving the 
Wellbeing goals, and ensuring that 
those people reflect the diversity of 
the area which the body serves

? ? ? ? ?

Collaboration

Acting in collaboration with any other 
person (or different parts of the body 
itself) that could help the body to 
meet its Wellbeing Objectives

? ? ? ? ?

Attractive To the community YY ? ? ? N

P
age 152



 
Attractive To MTCBC N Y YY Y Y

Achievable
MTCBC has the ability, skills and 
capacity to deliver the option within 
project constraints

YY YY YY ? YY

Achievable
There will be minimal service 
disruption to the service(s) at 
MTCBC

YY Y Y ? ?

Commercial
The option will generate a 
competitive market of suppliers with 
the capacity and capability to deliver

YY YY YY YY N

Affordable The project will deliver value for 
money N ? Y ? YY

Affordable
The development and on-going 
operational costs of the option can be 
met

N ? Y ? YY

Sub total Score 7 13 18 9 9

Project Objective Please state objective (SMART) 
below:

Option 1

Remain As Is

Option 2
Streamline 

Service

Option 3
Streamline 

Service

Option 4

Cost 
Recovery

Option 5

Remove

Best start in life • Children having a nurturing and 
stimulating home environment

• Children having access to high 

? ? ? ? ?

P
age 153



 
Children get the best 
start in life

quality pre-school and school 
education

• Helping mothers to have good 
maternal health

• Helping parents and carers with 
literacy and numeracy to enhance 
their ability to support their 
children’s learning

Best start in life

Children and young 
people are equipped 
with the skills they 
need to be successful 
learners and confident 
individuals

• Schools equipping pupils with 
high levels of literacy, numeracy 
and ICT skills

• Schools equipping pupils with 
social and emotional skills

• Schools supporting physical 
activity of pupils

• Youth services involving young 
people and enhancing their 
knowledge and skills

YY Y Y Y ?

Working life

Making skills work for 
Merthyr Tydfil: 
Developing the 
workforce of the future

• People having employment 
opportunities

• People having the basic skills to 
access learning and training 
programmes

• People having the skills and 
qualifications that are suitable for 
employers' changing needs

YY Y Y Y ?

Working life

Developing the 
environment and 
infrastructure for 
business to flourish

• People having access to 
flexible, integrated and 
sustainable transport options

• Parents and carers having 
flexible childcare options

• Suitable previously developed 
land that delivers a diverse supply 
of housing

? ? ? ? ?

P
age 154



 
• Promoting and supporting the 
use of renewable and low carbon 
energy

• Strengthening and diversifying 
the town and rural economies

Environmental 
Wellbeing

Communities protect, 
enhance and promote 
our natural 
environment and 
countryside

• Integration of landscape 
protection, management and 
planning

• Minimise environmental damage 
through prevention of pollution

• Maximise efficient use of 
materials and resources by 
means of the waste hierarchy

• Developing good quality and 
connected green infrastructure 
and open spaces

? ? ? ? ?

Environmental 
Wellbeing

Communities protect, 
develop and promote 
our heritage and 
cultural assets

• Supporting existing community 
facilities and community led 
developments

• Supporting suitable tourism, 
leisure and recreation 
developments

• Promoting cultural and social 
activities within our communities

• Promoting the use of the Welsh 
language

? ? ? ? ?

Living Well

Developing safer 
communities

• Safeguarding vulnerable 
children and adults who are at 
risk of harm

• Tackling the harm caused by the 
misuse of drugs and alcohol

• Tackling violence against 
women and girls

• Offender management (young 

? ? ? ? ?

P
age 155



 
people through to adults)

• Anti-Social Behaviour

• Community cohesion
Living Well

People have good 
physical and mental 
wellbeing

• Promoting healthy behaviours 
from a young age

• Tackling adverse childhood 
experiences

• Increasing levels of physical 
activity

? ? ? ? ?

Living Well

People live 
independently

• Clearly and accessibly 
communicate sources of advice, 
assistance and support

• Gather the views of service 
users to inform planning and 
service delivery

• Services that provide people 
with the ability to live in their own 
home

• Better access to quality services 
and facilities to support a fairer 
society for people with protected 
characteristics

? ? ? ? ?

Sub total Score 4 2 2 2 0

Outcomes

Please describe the outcomes 
below (these should include the 
criteria for success, i.e. what will 
you see?):

Option 1

Remain As Is

Option 2
Streamline 

Service

Option 3
Streamline 

Service

Option 4

Cost 
Recovery

Option 5

Remove

Outcome Students can study requested 
courses within Merthyr Tydfil

N Y Y ? Y

Key Definition Score

P
age 156



 
YY Yes, definitely 2

Y Yes, more than likely 1

? Maybe 0

N No, probably not -1

P
age 157



 

Risk Assessment – Post-16 Home to School Transport

Potential risks of implementing each option

Option 1 Option 2
Potential risks of implementing each 
option Impact

(1 to 5)
Low High

Likelihood 
(1 to 5)

Low    High

Risk Score
(Impact x 

Likelihood)

Impact
(1 to 5)

Low High

Likelihood 
(1 to 5)

Low    High
Risk Score

(Impact x Likelihood)

Potential negative impact on pupils not in 
Education, Employment or Training (NEET's) 3 1 3 3 2 6

Parents not paying - chasing arrears N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Debts from non-payment have to be written 
off N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Most common risk score 3 6
Maximum risk score 20 12
Minimum risk score 2 6

Potential risks of implementing each option

Option 3 Option 4
Potential risks of implementing each 
option Impact

(1 to 5)
Low High

Likelihood 
(1 to 5)

Low    High

Risk Score
(Impact x 

Likelihood)

Impact
(1 to 5)

Low High

Likelihood 
(1 to 5)

Low    High
Risk Score

(Impact x Likelihood)

Potential negative impact on pupils not in 
Education, Employment or Training (NEET's) 3 2 6 3 3 9

Parents not paying - chasing arrears N/A N/A N/A 4 4 16

Debts from non-payment have to be written 
off N/A N/A N/A 3 3 9

Most common risk score 6 9
aximum risk score 12 16

Minimum risk score 6 4

P
age 158



 
Potential risks of implementing each option

Option 5
Potential risks of implementing each option Impact

(1 to 5)
Low High

Likelihood 
(1 to 5)

Low    High
Risk Score

(Impact x Likelihood)

Potential negative impact on pupils not in 
Education, Employment or Training (NEET's) 3 4 12

Parents not paying - chasing arrears N/A N/A N/A
Debts from non-payment have to be written off N/A N/A N/A

Most common risk score 12
Maximum risk score 16
Minimum risk score 3

Potential barriers of implementing each option

Option 1 Option 2
Potential risks of implementing each 
option

Impact
(1 to 5)

Low High

Likelihood 
(1 to 5)

Low    High

Risk Score
(Impact x 

Likelihood)

Impact
(1 to 5)

Low High

Likelihood 
(1 to 5)

Low    High
Risk Score

(Impact x Likelihood)

Opposition from the public 3 1 3 3 3 9
Opposition from schools/Colleges 3 1 3 3 3 9
Negative publicity 3 1 3 3 2 6

Most common risk score 3 6
Maximum risk score 3 12
Minimum risk score 3 6

Potential barriers of implementing each option

P
age 159



 
Option 3 Option 4

Potential risks of implementing each 
option

Impact
(1 to 5)

Low High

Likelihood 
(1 to 5)

Low    High

Risk Score
(Impact x 

Likelihood)

Impact
(1 to 5)

Low High

Likelihood 
(1 to 5)

Low    High
Risk Score

(Impact x Likelihood)

Opposition from the public 3 3 9 3 3 12
Opposition from schools/Colleges 3 3 9 3 3 6
Negative publicity 3 2 6 3 2 12

Most common risk score 9 12
Maximum risk score 9 12
Minimum risk score 6 6

Potential barriers of implementing each option

Option 5
Potential risks of implementing each option Impact

(1 to 5)
Low High

Likelihood 
(1 to 5)

Low    High
Risk Score

(Impact x Likelihood)

Opposition from the public 3 4 12
Opposition from schools/Colleges 3 3 9
Negative publicity 3 4 12

Most common risk score 12
Maximum risk score 16
Minimum risk score 3

Summary Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5

Most Common risk 
score

3 6 6 12 12

Maximum risk score 20 12 12 16 16
Minimum risk score 2 6 6 4 3

Finance

P
age 160



 
Below is the current cost of the post-16 provision, academic year 2017/18, and the costs associated with the various options.

P
age 161



 

With option 3, it is unlikely additional savings will be made by removing the post-16 pupils from the mainstream transport as transport 
would then be required to The College Merthyr Tydfil (due to the pupils living over 3 miles away). 

With option 5, the saving figure is calculated by identifying how much the transport costs and dividing it by the number of students using 
the service. For mainstream, this means the total cost divided by the total number of pupils. Then multiplying this by the number of post-
16 pupils. In reality it is difficult to identify an exact saving by removing post-16 pupils from mainstream transport as it doesn’t 
automatically mean a reduction in bus size. Potentially for some routes, the bus could be re-routed and therefore less or smaller buses 
are required. However this may not be the case for all routes so the bus costs stay the same. 

P
age 162



 
Below are the Mid Term Financial Plan  figures which identify the savings from removal of some post-16 provision (implementing option 
2).

In academic year 2018/19 we are unlikely to see any savings as any changes made to the policy in 2018 cannot be implemented until 
acadmic year 2019/20. However some savings can be made  in 2018/19 by issuing train passes to the 8 students currently travelling to 
Nantgarw rather than putting on a bus. Savings shown above for this are only partical year savings as it applies to September 2018 – 
March 2019. It is impractical to switch to train passes for the other students due to the location of the college they are attending. 

In 2019/20, from April 2019 – July 2019 those students still studying until the end of the academic year will continue, and then removal 
of the service will happen September 2019.  

In 2020/21 full year savings can be seen as the services will have ceased. There may still be some deductions assuming that the 
students relocate to The College Merthyr Tydfil and therefore live over 3 miles away so qualify for free transport. These students would 
be given train passes. 

P
age 163



 
Summary

Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5
Most Common risk 

score

Maximum risk score

Minimum risk score

3

20

2

6

12

6

6

12

6

12

16

4

12

16

3

Finance £0 £78,116.93 £78,116.93 £189,751.44 £189,751.44

Score against 
objectives 11 15 20 11 9

Rationale Shortlist – Subject to 
public consultation

Shortlist – Subject to 
public consultation

Shortlist – Subject to 
public consultation

Shortlist – Subject to 
public consultation

Shortlist – Subject to 
public consultationP

age 164



Document is Restricted

Page 165

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 15 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3a End the Public Sector Pay Pinch
	4a Cabinet: 22.11.2017
	4b Audit: 16.10.2017
	4c Licensing Committee: 18.10.2017
	4d SACRE: 24.10.2017
	4e Scrutiny : Social Services: 7.11.2017
	4f Planning, Regulatory and Licensing: 15.11.2017
	5 Council Tax Base For 2018/19
	6 Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22 - Update December 2017
	7 Trade Union Facilities
	8 Workplace Stress Policy
	Appendix 1

	9 Trago Mills Megastore – Creation of a Tourist Information Centre
	10 Redistribution of Ffos-y-fran Grant Funds
	11 Cold Weather Plan
	Appendix 1

	12 Post 16 Home to School Transport
	13 Customer Services Roles - Vacant Posts

